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BPREX PLASTIC PACKAGING (INDIA) LIMITED (REGISTERED NUMBER: 03057353)

REPORT OF THE IRECTORS
FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY 2015 TO 31 MARCH 2016

The directors present their report with the financial statements of the company for the peniod 1 January 2015 to 31 March 2016

DIRECTORS
The directors shown below have held office during the whole of the peniod from 1 January 2015 to the date of this report

Mt J K Greene
Mr M W Miles

Other changes m directors holding office are as follows
Mr J D Rich ceased to be a director after 31 March 2016 but pnior to the date of thus report

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES
The directors are responsible for prepanng the Report of the Directors and the financial statements 1n accordance with applicable law
and regulaticns

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year Under that law the directors have elected
to prepare the financial statements in accordance with Umted Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom
Accounting Standards and applicable law) Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they
are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that
period In preparmng these financial statements, the directors are required to

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,

- make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

- prepare the financial statements on the going concem basis unless 1t 1s mappropriate to presume that the company will continue 1n
business

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explam the company's
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and enable them to ensure that
the financial statements comply with the Compames Act 2006 They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and eother iregularities

STATEMENT AS TO DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITORS

So far as the directors are aware, there 15 no relevant audit information (as defined by Secuon 418 of the Compames Act 2006) of
which the company's auditors are unaware, and each director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a director 1 order
to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company's auditors are aware of that information

This report has been prepared 1n accordance with the provisions of Part 15 of the Companies Act 2006 relating to small companies

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD:

Mark W Miles (Dec 13 2016}

Mr M W Miles - Director

Dec 13, 2016

ate
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO THE MEMBERS OF
BPREX PLASTIC PACKAGING (INDIA) LIMITED

We have audited the financial statements of BPrex Plastic Packaging (India) Limued for the perod ended 31 March 2016 on pages
four to twelve The financial reporing framework that has been appled in their preparation 1s applhicable law and Unmited Kingdom
Accounting Standards (Umted Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including Financial Reporting Standard 102 ‘The
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of [reland'

Ths report 15 made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's members those matters we are required to state to them
in a Report of the Auditors and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility
to anyone other than the company and the company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opmnions we
have formed

Respective responsibilitzes of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors' Respensibilittes set out on page two, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financral statements and for bemng satisfied that they give a true and far view Our responsibility 1s to audit and
express an opinion on the financial statements 1n accordance with applicabie law and Intemational Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland) These standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's {APB's) Ethical Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
A descniption of the scope of an audit of financial statements 1s provided on the FRC's website at
www frc org uk/apb/scope/private cfm

Opinton on financial statements

In our opinion the financial statements

- give atrue and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 March 2016 and of 1ts profit for the peried then ended,
- have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and

- have been prepared 1n accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

Opinon on other matter prescnbed by the Compamies Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the Report of the Directors for the financial year for whach the financial statements are
prepared 1s consistent with the finaneial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report n respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our

OpImIon

- adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been recerved from branches not
visited by us, or

- the financial statements are not i agreement with the accounting records and returns, or

- certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made, or

- we have not recerved all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or

- the directors were not entitled to take advantage of the small companies' exemption from the requirement to prepare a Strategic
Report or 1n prepanng the Report of the Directors

Granham Jenning§ (Dec 13, (P16}

Graham Jennings (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of Kirk Rice LLP
Statutory Auditors
The Courtyard
High Street
Ascot
Berkshire
SL5 7HP
Dec 13, 2016

ate

Page 3




BPREX PLASTIC PACKAGING (INDIA) LIMITED (REGISTERED NUMBER: 03057353)

INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY 2015 TO 31 MARCH 2016
Period
1115
to Year Ended
31316 311214
Notes € €
TURNOVER . R
Administrative expenses (22,133) 5,906,326
OPERATING (LOSSYPROFIT 3 (22,133) 5,906,326
[nterest receivable and simitar income 168,055 142,001
Interest payable and similar expenses 4 - (57,429
PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 145,922 5,990,898
Tax on profit 5 (25,965) (22,366)

PROFIT FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD 119,957 5,968,532

The notes form part of these financial statements
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BPREX PLASTIC PACKAGING (INDIA} LIMITED (REGISTERED NUMBER: 03057353)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY 2015 TO 31 MARCH 2016

Period
1115
o Year Ended
31316 31214
Notes € €
PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 119,957 5,968,532
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
- (380,061)
Income tax relating to other comprehensive
Income - .
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR
THE PERIOD, NET OF INCOME TAX - {380,061) |
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR i

THE PERIOD 119,957 5,588,471

The notes form part of these financial statements

Page 5




BPREX PLASTIC PACKAGING (INDIA) LIMITED (REGISTERED NUMBER: 03057353)

BALANCE SHEET
31 MARCH 2016
2016 2014
Notes € €

FIXED ASSETS
Investments 6 8,564,511 8,564,511
CURRENT ASSETS
Debtors 7 5,309,061 6,298,340
Cash at bank 1,110,139 1,014

6,419,200 6,299,354
CREDITORS
Amounts falling due within one year 8 (16,180) (16,291)
NET CURRENT ASSETS 6,403,020 6,283,063
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 14,967,531 14,847,574
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Called up share capital 9 18,935,765 18,935,765
Share premium 10 6,731,937 6,731,937
Retamned earnings 10 (10,700,171) (10,820,128)
SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS 14,967,531 14,847,574

Dec 13, 2016

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on ¢ ’ and were signed on its behalf by

Mark W Miles (Dec 13 2016}

Mr M W Miles - Director

The notes form part of these financial statements
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BPREX PLASTIC PACKAGING (INDIA) LIMITED (REGISTERED NUMBER 03057353)

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY 2015 TO 31 MARCH 2016

Called up
share Retamed Share Total
capital eamings premium equity
€ € € €

Balance at 1 January 2014 1 (16,408,599 ) - (16,408,598)
Changes n equuty
[ssue of share capital 18,935,764 - 6,731,937 25,667,701
Total comprehensive income - 5,588,471 - 5,588,471
Balance at 31 December 2014 18,935,765 (10,820,128) 6,731,937 14,847,574
Changes 1n equity
Total comprehensive income - 119,957 - 119,957
Balance at 31 March 2016 18,935,765 (10,700,171) 6,731,937 14,967,531

The notes form part of these financial statements
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BPREX PLASTIC PACKAGING (INDIA) LIMITED (REGISTERED NUMBER: 03057353)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD | JANUARY 2015 TO 31 MARCH 2016

STATUTORY INFORMATION

BPrex Plastic Packaging (India) Limited 1s a private company, hmited by shares, registered in England and Wales The
company's registered number and registered office address can be found on the Company Information page

The presentation currency of the financial statements 15 the Euro (€)

The business activity of the Company 15 Investment Holdings The Company currently holds a 100% mvestment in BPRex
Pharma Packaging India Privaie Limited, which manufactures and sells injection and blow molded plastic products into the
prescriptton drug market.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basrs of preparing the financial statements

These financial statements have been prepared m accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102 "The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland" and the Companies Act 2006 The financial statements
have been prepared under the hastoncal cost convention

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the modification to a fair value basis for
certain financial instruments as specified in the accounting policies below

This 1s the first year in which the financial statements have been prepared under FRS 102 Refer to note 14 for an explanation
of the transition

Financial reporting standard 102 - reduced disclosure exemptions
The company has taken advantage of the following disclosure exemption in prepartng these financial statements, as permitted
by FRS 102 "The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”

+  the requirements of Section 7 Statement of Cash Flows

Preparation of consolidated financial statements

The financial statements contan information about BPrex Plastic Packaging {India) Limuted (formerty known as Rexam
Plastic Packaging (India Holding) Lumited) as an individual company and do not contain consolidated financial information
as the parent of a group The company 1s exempt under Section 400 of the Companies Act 2006 from the requirements to
prepare consohdated financial statements as it and its subsidary undertaking are mcluded by full consohdation mn the
consolidated financtal statements of its ultimate controlling party, Berry Plastics Group, Inc, a company registered mn  the
USA

Sigmificant judgements and esimates

The preparation of the financiat statements 1n comphance with FRS 102 requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets, habilities, income and
expenses Actual results may differ from these estumates

Estimates and underlymng assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis Estimates are based on histoncal expenence and
other assumptions that are considered reascnable in the circumstances The actual amount or values may vary in certan
instances from the assumptions and estimates made Changes will be recorded, with corresponding effect 1n profit or loss,
when, and if, better information 1s obtained

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a sigmficant nsk of resulting in matenal adjustment
within the next financial year are included below,

Cntical judgements that management has made in the process of applying accounting policies disclosed herein and that have
a significant effect on the ameunts recognised m the financial statements relates to the following

Provisions

In recogmsing provisions, the company evaluates the extent to which 1t 1s probable that it has incurred a legal or constructive
obligation 1n respect of past events and the probability that there will be an outflow of benefits as a result The judgements
used to recognise provisions are based on currently known factors which may vary over time, resulung n changes in the
measurement of recorded amounts as compared to mitial estimates

Page 8 continued




BPREX PLASTIC PACKAGING (INDIA) LIMITED (REGISTERED NUMBER: (3057353)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY 2015 TO 31 MARCH 2016

ACCOUNTING POLICIES - conhnued

Foreign currencies
Monetary assets and labilites denominated in foreign currencies are translated nto euros at the exchange ruling at the
balance sheet date

Transactions 1n foreign currencies are translated into euros at the rate ruling on the date of the transaction
Exchange gains and losses are recognised in the profit and loss account.

Frequency of reporting

The end of the reporting penod has changed from 31 December to 31 March so that the current peniod 1s longer than one
year The reason for the change 1s to align the reporting date with the company's subsidiary As a result of this change the
comparative amounts presented in the financial statements (including the related notes) are not entirely comparable

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash 15 represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty on notice of not more
than 24 hours Cash equivalents are lghly hqud investments that mature in no more than three months from the date of
acquuisition and that are readhly convertible to known amounts of cash with insigmficant nsk of change in value

Financial instruments

The company only enters into basic financral instruments transactions that result in the recogmtion of financial assets and
labilities like trade and other accounts receivable and payable, loans from banks and other third parties, loans to related
parties and investments in non-puttable orduary shares

Fmancial assets that are measured at cost are amortised cost are assessed at the end of each reporting period for objective
evidence of mmpairment If objective evidence of impairment s found, an impairment loss is recognised in the Income
statement.

Corporation tax

Current tax, including UK corporation tax and foreign tax, 1s provided at amounts expected to be paid {or recovered) using
the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date

OPERATING (LOSSyPROFIT

The operating loss (2014 - operating profit) is stated afier charging

Penod
1115
to Year Ended
31316 31214
€ €
Auditors' remuneration 12,777 12,777
Other non- audit services 3,514 3514
Foreign exchange differences - 352,179
INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR EXPENSES
Period
1115
to Year Ended
31316 311214
€ €
Interest payable to the parent undertaking - 57,429

Page 9 continued




BPREX PLASTIC PACKAGING (INDIA) LIMITED (REGISTERED NUMBER 03057353)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY 2015 TO 31 MARCH 2016

TAXATION

Analysts of the tax charge
The tax charge on the profit for the period was as follows

Peru
1115
to Year Ended
31316 311214
€ €
Current tax
Foreign tax 25,965 22,366
Tax on profit 25,965 22,366

Reconciliation of total tax charge included in profit and loss
The tax assessed for the period 15 lower than the standard rate of corporauon tax n the UK The difference 15 explained

below
Period
L1115
© Year Ended
31316 311214
€ €
Profit before tax 145,922 5,990,898
Profit multipited by the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 20% (2014 -
21 500%) 29,184 1,288,043
Effects of
Proviston not allowed - (1,349,173)
Foreign tax 25,965 22,366
Foreign exchange - 75.811
Auditors' remuneration 3,258 3,502
Interest receivable (33,611) (18,183)
Legal fees 1,169 -
Total tax charge 25,965 22,366
Tax effects relating to effects of other comprehensive income
2014
Gross Tax Net
€ € €
Other recogrised gamns and losses (380.,061) - {380,061)
(380,061) - (380,061)
FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS
Investment
n
subsidiary
€
COST
At | January 2015
and 31 March 2016 8,564,511
NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 March 2016 8,564,511
At 31 December 2014 8,564,511
Page 10 continued




BPREX PLASTIC PACKAGING (INDIA) LIMITED (REGISTERED NUMBER- (3057353)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY 2015 TO 31 MARCH 2016

FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS - continued

The company's mvestments at the Balance Sheet date in the share capital of compantes include the following
BPRex Pharma Packaging India Private Limited

Regstered office No 485, 13th Cross, FV Phase, Peenya Industnial Area, Bangalore - 560058, Kamatake, India.

Nature of busimess Drug delivery solutions
%

Class of shares holding
Equity shares 99 99
31/3/16 31315
€ €
Aggregate capital and reserves 10,014,021 10,261,628
Profit for the year 771,622 1,407,444
Fixed asset investments in subsidianes are accounted for at cost less impatrment
DEBTORS AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR
2016 2014
€ €
Amounts owed by group undertakings 5,257,621 6,257,622
Prepayments and accrued income 51,440 40,718
5,309,061 6,298,340

Amounts owed by subsidrary undertaking are interest bearing at EURIBOR plus a margin of 1% and 3%, unsecured and
repayable on 30 days' notice

Short term debtors are measured at farr value and therefore stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
inpairment losses for bad and doubtful debts except where the effect of discounting would be immatenal In such cases, the
debtors are stated at cost less impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts

CREDITORS AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

2016 2014
€ €
Qther creditors 16,180 16,291

Short term creditors are mtially recogrised at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would be immatenal, in which case they are stated at cost

CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL

Allotted, 1ssued and fully pard

Number Class Nominal 2016 2014
value € €

15,376,180 Ordinary £1 18,935,765 18,935,765

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as deciared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
share at meetings of the Company All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets

Page 11 continued
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BPREX PLASTIC PACKAGING (INDIA) LIMITED (REGISTERED NUMBER- 03057353)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY 2015 TO 31 MARCH 2016

RESERVES
Retained Share
earnings premium Totals
€ € €
At 1 January 2015 (10,820,128) 6,731,937 (4,088,191)
Profit for the penod 119,957 119,957

At 31 March 2016 (10,700,171) 6,731,937 (3.968,234)

Retamned earnings

The retained earnings account includes all current and prior penied retained profit and losses

Share premum

The share premium account includes the excess in share capital recerved as a non distnibutable reserve
ULTIMATE PARENT COMPANY

Berry Plastics International BV (incorporated 1n Netherlands) 1s regarded by the directors as being the company's ultimate
parent company

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

The company has taken advantage of exemption, under the terms of Financial Reporting Standard 102 'The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable 1n the UK and Republic of [reland', not to disclose related party transactions with wholly
owned subsidianes within the group

ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY

The ultimate controlling party 1s Berry Plastics Group, Inc, a company incorporated in the USA The consolidated group
financial statements of Berry Plastics Group, Inc are those of both the smallest and largest group of which the company 15 a
member and for which group financial statements are prepared Copies of the group financial statements may be obtained
from www berryplastics com

FIRST YEAR ADOPTION

The company had adopted FRS 102 for the peniod ended 2016 and has restated the comparative prior year amounts

Changes for FRS 102 adoption

1 The total changes ansing on transition to FRS 102 are immatenal to the financial statements and thus the reconciliations
have not been disclosed
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BPREX PLASTIC PACKAGING (INDIA) LIMITED (REGISTERED NUMBER: (3057353)

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

FOR THE PERIOD 1 JANUARY 2015 TO 31 MARCH 2016

21,445

Penod
I115w31316
€
income
Other mncome
Interest recervable from subsidiary undertaking
Expenditure
Legal fees 5,154
Audhtors' remuneration 12,777
Audrtors' remuneration for non audit work 3,514
Foretgn exchange losses -
Provision against debtor -
Finance costs
Bank charges 688

Interest payable to the parent undertaking -

NET PROFIT

145,922

This page does not form part of the statutory financial statements
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168,055

168,055

146,610

688

Year Ended
311214
€ €
142,001
142,001
12,777
3,514
352,179
(6,275,223)
—_— (5,906,753)
6,048,754
427
57,429
57.856
5,990,898
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-K includes “forward-looking statements™ within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, with respect to our financal condition, results of operations
and business and our expectations or beliefs concerming future events The forward-looking statements include, in particular,
statements about our plans, strategies and prospects under the heading "Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financtal
Condition and Results of Operations” You can 1dentify forward-locking statements because they contain words such as
‘believes,” ‘expects,’ may,” will,y should, would,” could,” " seeks,” approximately,” intends,” “plans,” estimates,”

outlook,” ‘anticipates” or looking forward” or similar expressions that relate to our strategy, plans, intentions, or our
financial condition, our recent acquisition of AVINTIV Inc ( ‘Avintiv™) and integration thereof All statements we make
relating to our estimated and projected earnings, margins, costs, expenditures, cash flows, growth rates and financial results or
to our expectations regarding future industry trends are forward-looking statements In addition, we, through our semor
management, from time to time make forward-looking public statements concermng our expected future operations and
performance and other developments These forward-looking statements are subject to nisks and uncertainties that may
change at any tume, and, therefore, our actual results may differ matertally from those that we expected We denve many of
our forward-looking statements from our operating budgets and forecasts, which are based upon many detailed assumptions
While we believe that our assumptions are reasonable, we caution that it 15 very difficult to predict the impact of known
factors, and 1t 1s unpossible for us to anticipate all factors that could affect our actual results  All forward-looking statements
are based upon information available to us on the date of this Form 10-K

All forward-looking information and subsequent wntten and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us, or to persons
acting on our behalf, are expressly qualified 1n their entirety by the cautionary statements Some of the factors that we believe
could affect our results include

¢ nsks associated with our substantial indebtedness and debt service,

+ changes in prices and availability of resin and other raw matenals and our ability to pass on changes in raw material
prices on a imely basis,

¢  performance of our business and future operating results,

» nsks related to our acquisition strategy and mtegration of acquired busmesses including the diversion of management
time on acquisition-related 1ssues and our ability to promptly and effectively integrate our businesses with those of
acquisitions and achieve the synergies and value creation contemplated,

¢ rehance on unpatented know-how and trade secrets,

s ncreases in the cost of comphance with laws and regulations, including environmental, safety, production and product
laws and regulations,

»  risks related to distuptions 1n the overall economy and the financial markets that may adversely unpact our business,

s catastrophic loss of one of our key manufacturing facihties, natural disasters, and other unplanned business
Interruptions,

s nisks of competinon, including foreign competition, 1n our existing and future markets,

+ the other factors discussed in the section titled Rusk Factors’

We caution readers that the foregoing list of important factors may not contain all of the matenal factors that are important to
you [In addition, 1n hight of these nsks and uncertainties, the matters referred to i the forward-looking statements contained
i this Form 10-K may not in fact occur  Accordingly, investors should not place undue reliance on those statements We
undertake no obliganon to pubhcly update or rewvise any forward-locking staternent as a result of new information, future
events or otherwise, except as otherwise required by law
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Item 1. BUSINESS
(In millions of doflars, except as otherwise noted)

General

Berry Plastics Group. Inc { Berry,” “we,” or the *Company’ ) 1s a leading provider of value-added plastic consumer
packaging and engineered materials with a track record of delivering lgh-quality customized solutions to our customers
Representative examples of our products include specialty closures, prescription vials, specialty films, adhesives, corrosion
protection matenals, as well as drink cups, thin-wall containers, and bottles We sell our products predominantly into stable,
consumer-onented end-markets, such as healthcare, personal care, and food and beverage

We believe that we have created one of the largest product libranies in cur indusiry, allowing us to be a comprehensive
solution provider to our customers Qur customers consist of a diverse mix of leading global, national, mid-sized regional and
local specialty businesses  The size and scope of our customer network allows us to introduce new products we develop or
acquire (o a vast auchence that 1s farmihar wath our brand  In fiscal 2015, no single customer represented more than
approximately 2% of net sales and our top ten customers represented 6% of net sales We believe our manufactunng
processes and our ability to leverage our scale to reduce expenses on items, such as raw matenials, position us as a low-cost
manufacturer relative to our competitors

Through November 2015, our business was orgamized into four operating divisions Rigid Open Top, Rigid Closed Top,
(which together make up our Rigid Packaging business), Engineered Matenals, and Flexible Packaging  Addinonal financial
mnformation about our business segments 1s provided in  Management's Discussion and Analysis of Finaneial Condition and
Results of Operations™ and the **Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,” which are included elsewhere in this Form 10-
K

In November 2015 the Company recrganized into three operating segments Health, Hygiene and Specialties, Consumer
Packaging, and Enginecred Materials The Health, Hygiene and Specialties segment wall include the recently acquired
Awvintiv business and personal care films and international business that listonically reported in our Flexible Packaging
segment. The Consumer Packaging segment will consist of our historical Rigid Open Top segment, Rigid Closed Top
segment, the food and consumer films business that histonically reported m our Flexible Packaging segment, and the custom
shrink films business that was historically reported in our Engineered Matenals segment. The Engineered Material segment
will include the old Engineered Matenial segment, excluding the custom shrink films business, and the converter films
business that was historically reported m our Flexible Packaging segment Beginning with our results for the first quarter of
fiscal 2016, we will report results based on our new operating segment structure

Recent Acquisitions

Rexam Healthcare Contarners and Closures

In June 2014, the Company acquired Rexam’s Healthcare Contamers and Closures business ( C&C’ ) for a purchase pnce of
$133 milion, net of cash acquired The C&C business produces bottles, closures, and specialty products for pharmaceutical
and over-the-counter healthcare applications The C&C acquisition has been accounted for under the purchase method of
accounting, and accordingly, the purchase price has been allocated to the identifiable assets and liabilities based on therr farr
values at the acquisition date The acquired assets and assumed Liabilities consisted of working capital of $32 mullion,
property and equipment of $85 mullion, non-current deferred tax asset of $3 mulhion, intangible assets of $9 million, goodwill
of $7 million, and other long-term hahlities of $3 million

AVINTIY Inc

In October 2015, the Company acquired 100% of the capital stock of Avintiv for a purchase price of approximately 32 3
bilhon which 15 prehmmary and subject to adjustment  Avintiv 1s one of the world s leading developers, producers, and
marketers of nonwoven specialty matenals used (n hygiene, infection prevention, persenal care, and high-performance
solutions With 23 locations in 14 countries, an employee base of over 4,500 people, and the broadest range of process
technologes in the industry, Avintiv’s strategically located manufactuning facilitwes position it as a global suppher to many of
the same leading consumer and industrial product manufacturers that Berry supphes and utilize similar key raw matenals as
Berry’s existing business To finance the purchase, the Company 1ssued 3400 milhon aggregate principal amount of 6 0%
second pnionity semior secured notes due 2022 and entered into an incremental assumption agreement to increase the
commutments under the Company’s existing term loan credit agreement by $2 1 billion due 2022




Recent Developments
Revoiving Line of Credit

In May 20135, the Company amended the credit agreement relating to 1ts existing $650 million secured revolving credit
facility to extend the matunty date of the revolving credit facility from June 2016 to May 2020 and to reduce interest
margins and certain commutment fees

5'/,% Second Prionity Semor Secured Notes

In June 2013, the Company 1ssued $700 mullion of 5'/4% second priority semor secured notes due July 2023 Interest on
the 5'/:% second prionty semor secured notes 1s due semi-annually on January 15 and July 15 Proceeds from the 1ssuance
and existing hquidity were used to sausfy and discharge all of the outstanding 9%:% second priority semor secured

notes The Company recognized a $94 million loss on extingwishment of debt, including $83 mutlion of early tender and
redemption costs and an $11 million wnte-oft of deferred financing fees

Interest Rate Swap

In September 20135, the Company entered into an 1nterest rate swap transaction to protect $1 billion of outstanding vanable
rate term loan debt from future interest rate volatlity The agreement swapped the greater of a three-month vanable LIBOR
contract or 1 00% for a fixed annual rate of 1 7185%, with an effective date in December 2015 and expiration in June 2019

Product Overview
Rigd Packaging

Our Rigid Packaging business primarily includes the following product groups

Containers We manufacture a collection of nationally branded container products which range from four ounces to five
gallons and are offered 1n various styles with accompanying lids, bails and handles, some of which we produce, as well as
a wide array of decorating options

Foodservice We believe we are one of the largest providers of large size thermoformed polypropylene (“PP° ) and
mjection-molded plastic drink cups in the United States We manufacture plastic cups that range 1n size from 12 to 64
ounces primarily for quick service and family dining restaurants, convenience stores, stadiums and retail stores

Closures and Overcaps We believe we are a leading producer of closures and overcaps across several of our product
Lines, including continuous-thread and child-resistant closures, as well as aerosol overcaps We sell our closures into
numerous end markets, including household chemucal, healthcare, food and beverage, and personal care

Botiles and Prescription Containers Our bottle and prescription container businesses target markets similar to our closure
business We believe we are a leader 1n various food and beverage, vitamin and nutritional markets, as well as the
prescription container market

Tubes We offer a complete line of extruded and lamuinate tubes 1n a wide vanety of sizes We believe we are one of the
largest suppliers of extruded plastic squeeze tubes in the United States The majonity of our tubes are sold in the personal
care market We also sell our tubes into the pharmaceutical and household chemical markets

Engineered Materials

The Engineered Matenals business pnmanly wicludes the following product groups

Corrosion Protection Products Webeheve we are a leading global producer of anti-corrosion products to infrastructure,
rehabihtation and new pipeline projects throughout the world These products are used 1n o1l, gas, and water supply and
construction apphications Qur customers pnimarily include contractors managing discrete construction projects around the
world as well as distributors and applicators

Tape Products We belhieve we are a leading North American manufacturer of cloth and foil tape products Other tape
products mclude high-quality, mgh-performance liners of splicing and laminating tapes, flame-retardant tapes, vinyl-
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coated and carton sealing tapes, electrical, double-faced cloth, masking, mounting, OEM, and medical and specialty tapes
Tape products are sold primanly through distributors and directly to end users for industrial, HV AC, automotive,
construction, and retail market applications

Retal Bags We sell a diversified portfolio of polyethylene based film products to end users in the retail markets Our
products include drop cloths and retail trash bags These products are sold pnmarily through wholesale outlets, hardware
stores and home centers, paint stores, and mass merchandisers

PVC Fiims We believe we are a world leader in polyviny! chloride ( ‘PVC’) films offering a broad array of PYC meat
film Our products are used primarily to wrap fresh meats, poultry, and produce for supermarket applications In addition,
we offer a line of boxed products for food service and retail sales We service many of the leading supermarket chains,
club stores, and wholesalers

Institutional Can Liners We sell trash-can liners and food bags for offices, restaurants, schools, hospitals, hotels,
mumcipahities, and manufacturing facilities

Stretch and Shnnk Films We manufacture both hand and machine-wrap stretch films and custom shrink films, which are
used to prepare products and packages for storage and shipping We sell stretch and shrink film products to a diverse mix
of end users

Flexible Packaging

Our Flexible Packaging division consists of high barner, mulalayer film products as well as fimshed flexible packages
such as pouches and ncludes various immatenial international operations  The Flexible Packaging division pnimanly
mcludes the following product groups

Personal Care Films We believe we are a major supplier of component and packaging films used for personal care
hygiene applications predomunantly sold in North America and Latin America The end use applications include
disposable baby diapers, feminine care, adult incontinence, hospital, and tissue and towel products

Food and Consumer Films We are a converter of printed bags, pouches, and rolistock We believe we are a leading
supplier of printed film products for the fresh bakery, tortilla, and frozen vegetable markets We also manufacture barmer
films used for cereal, cooke, cracker and dry muix packages that are sold directly to food manufactures

Converter Films We manufacture specialty coated and laminated products for a wide vanety of packaging applications as
well as a wide range of highly specialized, made-to-order film products The key end markets and applications for our
products include healthcare, industrial and military pouches, roll wrap, multi-wall bags, and fiber drum packaging

International We manufacture a wide range of products predomunately serving the global food, healthcare, and persenal care
markets

Marketing, Sales, and Competition

We reach our large and diversified customer base through our regional direct field sales force of dedicated professionals and
the strategic use of distributors  Our regional field sales, production and support staff meet wath customers to understand thewr
needs and improve our product offerings and services  Our scale enables us to dedicate certan sales and marketing efforts to
particular products or customers, when applicable, which enables us to develop expertise that we believe 1s valued by our
customers In addition, because we serve common customers across segments, we have the ability to efficiently utilize our
sales and marketing resources to minimize ¢osts

The major markets in which the Company sells its products are lughly competitive  Areas of competition melude service,
innovation, quality, and pnice  This competition 1s sigmficant as to both the size and the number of competing
firms Competrtors include but are not imuted to Silgan, Aptar, Reynolds, AEP, [ntertape, 3M, Clopay, Tredegar, and Bemis

Research, Product Development and Design

We believe our technology base and research and development support are among the best n the industries we serve Many
of our customers work 1n partnership with our techmcal representatives to develop new, mere competitive products  Our
design professionals work directly with our customers to develop new styles and use computer-generated graphics to enable
our customers to visualize the fimshed product Expenditures for research and development activities were $33 million, $32
rlhion, and $28 mullion mn fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively




Raw Matenals

Our primary raw matenial 1s plastic resin  In additon, we use butyl rubber, tackifying resins, chemicals and adhesives, paper
and packaging matenals, linerboard, rayon, and foil 1n vanous manufacturing processes These raw matenials are available
from multiple sources and in general we purchase from a vanety of globat suppliers  In certain regions we may source
specific raw matenals from a limited number of suppliers or on a sole-source basis While temporary shortages of raw
materials can occur, we expect to contmue to successfully manage raw material supplies without sigmificant supply
nterruptions

Employees

As of the end of the 2015 fiscal year, we employed approximately 16,000 employees with approximately 12% of those
employees being covered by collective bargaining agreements  There are four agreements, representing approximately 7% of
employees, due for renegoniation 1n fiscal 2016 The remaining agreements expire afier fiscal year 2016 Our relations with
employees under collective bargaimng agreements remain satsfactory and there have been no sigmficant work stoppages or
other labor disputes during the past three years

Avintiv acquisttion - Avinqv has approximately 4,500 employees worldwide  Approximately 52% of these employees are
represented by labor unions or works councils that have entered mto separate collective bargaining agreements with Avintiv
All of these collective bargaining agreements will expire within one year We behieve these employee relations are
satisfactory

Patents, Trademarks and Other [ntellectual Property

We customanily seek patent and trademark protection for our products and brands while seeking to protect our propnetary
know-how While important to our business wn the aggregate, sales of any one individually patented product are not
considered material to any specific segment or the consohdated results

Environmental Matters and Government Regulation

Our past and present operations and our past and present ownership and operations of real property are subject to extensive

and changing federal, state, local, and foreign environmental laws and regulations pertamning to the discharge of matenals

nto the environment, handling and disposition of waste, and cleanup of contarminated soil and ground water, or otherwise

relating to the protection of the environment We belteve that we are 1n substantial compliance with applicable

environmental laws and regulations However, we cannot predict with any certainty that we will not in the future incur

liability wath respect to noncomphance with environmental laws and regulations, contarmination of sites formerly or \
currently owned or operated by us (including contamnation caused by prior owners and operators ot such sttes) or the off-

site disposal of regulated materials, which could be matenal

We may from time to time be required to conduct remediation of releases of regulated materials at our owned or operated
facihties None of our pending remediation projects are expected to result in matenal costs Like any manufacturer, we are
also subject to the possihlity that we may receive notices of potential hiabihity 1n connection with materials that were sent
1o third-party recycling, treatment, and/or disposal factlittes under the Federal Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended ("CERCLA"), and comparable state statutes, which impose hability
for investigation and remediation of contammation without regard to fault or the legality of the conduct that contributed to
the contamnation, and for damages to natural resources Liability under CERCLA 18 retroactive, and, under certain
ctrcumstances, hability for the entire cost of a cleanup can be imposed on any responsible party We are not aware that any
such notices are currently pending which are expected to result in material costs

The Food and Drug Adminstration ("FDA™) regulates the matenal content of direct-contact food and drug packages,
including certain packages we manufacture pursuant to the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetics Act Certain of our products
are also regulated by the Consumer Product Safety Commussion ("CPSC") pursuant to various federal laws, including the
Consumer Product Safety Act and the Poison Prevention Packaging Act Both the FDA and the CPSC can require the
manufacturer of defective products to repurchase or recall such products and may also 1mpose fines or penalties on the
manufacturer Surular laws exist in some states, cities and other countnes in which we sell our products [n addition, laws
ex15t 1n certain states restricting the sale of packaging with certain levels of heavy metals, imposing fines and penalties for
noncompliance Although we believe that we use FDA approved resins and pigments m our products that directly contact
food and drug products, and we behieve our products are i matenal compliance with all applicable requirements, we
remain subject to the nsk that our products could be found not to be in compliance with such requirements

The plastics industry, including us, 15 subject to exasting and potential federal, state, local and foreign legislation designed
to reduce solid waste by requiring, among other things, plastics to be degradable 1n landfills, mimimum levels of recycled
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content, vartous recycling requirements, disposal fees, and limits on the use of plastic products In particular, certain states
have enacted legislation requiring products packaged 1n plastic containers to comply with standards tended to encourage
recycling and increased use of recyeled matenals In addition, various consumer and special interest groups have lobbied
from ume to time for the implementation of these and other sumlar measures We believe that the legislatton promulgated
to date and such minatives to date have not had a matenial adverse effect on us There can be no assurance that any such
future legislative or regulatory efforts or future imniatives would not have a matenial adverse effect on us

Available Information

We make available, free of charge, our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on
Form 8-K and amendments, if any, to those reports through our internet website as soon as practicable after they have been
electronically filed with the SEC  Our mternet address 1s www berryplastics com  The information contained on our website
15 not being incorporated herem

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS
Our substannal mdebtedness could affect our ability to meet our obligations and may otherwise restnct our activities,

We have a significant amount of indebtedness, which requires significant interest payments  Our inability to generate
sufficient cash flow to satisfy our debt obligations, or to refinance our oblhigations on commercially reasonable terms, would
have a matersal adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations

Our substantial indebtedness could have important consequences  For example, 1t could

e limut our abihty to borrow money for our working capital, caputal expenditures, debt service requirements or other
corporate purposes,

e 1ncrease our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions, and

o limut our abihity to respond to business opportunities, mcluding growing our business through acquisitions

In addition, the credit agreements and indentures governing our current indebtedness contain, and any future debt instruments
would likely contain, financial and other restrictive covenants, which will impose significant operating and financial
restrichions on us, including restrictions on our ability to, among other things, ncur or guarantee additional debt, pay
dividends and make other restricted payments, create or incur certain liens, make certain investments, engage n sales of
assets and subsidrary stock, enter into transactions with affihates, transfer all or substantially all of our assets or enter mnto
merger or consolidation transactions, and make capital expenditures

As a result of these covenants, we could be limited 1n the manner in which we conduct our business, and we may be unable to
engage in favorable busingss activities or finance future operations or capital needs Furthermore, a failure to comply with
these covenants could result in an event of default, which, 1f not cured or waived, could have a matenal adverse effect on our
business, financial condinion, and results of operations

Increases in resin prices or a shortage of avalable resin could harm our financial condition and results of operations.

To produce our products, we use large quantitics of plastic resins  Plastic resins are subject to pnice fluctuations, imcluding
those ansing from supply shortages and changes in the prices of natural gas, crude o1l and other petrochemical intermediates
from which resins are produced Over the past several years, we have at imes experienced rapidly increasing resin prices
Historically, we have been able to successfully manage the impact of agher raw material costs by increasing our selling
prices However, raw material inflation could matenally and adversely affect our revenue and profitability in the short term
as we attempt to pass through price increases to our customers and in the long term as our customers could seek alternative
solutions

We may not be able to arrange for other sources of resin in the event of an industry-wide general shortage of resins used by
us, or a shortage or discontinuation of certain types of grades of resin purchased from one or more of our supphers Any such
shortage may matenally negatrvely impact our competitive position versus companies that are able to better or more cheaply
source resin

We may not be able to compete successfully and our customers may not continue to purchase our products.

We compete with multiple companies n each of our product hines on the basis of a number of considerations, including price,
service, quality, product charactenstics and the ability to supply products to customers 1n a timely manner  Our products also
compete with metal, glass, paper and other packaging matenals as well as plastic packaging materials made through different
manufacturing processes Some of these competitive products are not subject to the impact of changes 1n resin prices, which

7




may have a sigmficant and negative impact on our competitive position versus substitute products  Our competitors may
have financial and other resources that are substantially greater than ours and may be better able than us to withstand higher
costs Competition could result in our products losing market share or our having to reduce our prices, either of which could
have a matenal adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations In addition, since we do not have
long-term arrangements with many of our customets, these competitive factors could cause our customers to shuft supplers
and/or packaging material quickly Our success depends, in part, on our ability to respond timely to customer and market
changes

We may pursue and execute acquisitions, which could adversely affect our business

As part of our growth strategy, we consider acquisitions that either complement or expand our existing business and create
economuc value We cannot assure you that we will be able to consummate any such transactions or that any future
acquisitions will be consummated at acceptable prices and terms  Acquired businesses may not achieve the levels of revenue,
profit, productivity or otherwise perform as we expect  Acquisiions involve special tisks, including the potential assumption
of unanticipated hiabilires and contingencies as well as difficulties 1n mtegrating acquired businesses creating substantial
costs, delays or other problems that could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations
Furthermore, we may not reahze all of the synergies we expect to achieve from our current strategic mitiatives due to a
variety of nsks  If we are unable to achieve the synerges that we expect to achieve from our strategic imitiatives, 1t could
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations

Because a significant number of Avintiv employees are represented by labor unions or trade councils and work
under collechve bargamning agreements, any employee slowdown or strikes or the failure to renew collective
bargaining agreements could disrupt our business following the Avintiv acquisition.

As of September 26, 2015, approximately 52% of Avintiv’s employees are represented by labor unions or trade councils and
worked under collective bargaining agreements We may not be able to maintain constructive relationships with these labor
umions or trade councils We may not be able to successfully negonate new collective bargaiming agreements on satisfactory
terms n the future The loss of a substantial number of these employees or a prolonged labor dispute could disrupt our
business following the Avintiv acquisiion Any such disruption could reduce our revenues, increase our costs and result in
sigruficant losses followng the Avintiv acquisition

Current and future environmental and other governmental requirements could adversely affect our financial
condition and our ability to conduet our business.

While we have not been required historically to make significant capital expenditures n order to comply with applicable
environmentai laws and regulations, we cannot predict with any certainty our future capital expenditure requirements because
of continually changing comphance standards and environmental technology Furthermore, violations or contamunated sites
that we do not know about (including contamination caused by prior owners and operators of such sites or newly discovered
information) could result in addinonal comphance or remediation costs or other habilities, which could be materral  We may
also assume significant environmental habilities in connecthion with acquisitions  In addition, federal, state, local, and foreign
governments could enact laws or regulations concerning environmental matters that increase the cost of producing, or
otherwise adversely affect the demand for, plastic products Legislanon that would prohibat, tax or restrict the sale or use of
certain types of plastic and other containers, and would require diversion of solid waste such as packaging matenals from
disposal 1n landfills, has been or may be mtroduced 1n the U § Congress, state legislatures, and other legislative bodies
Although we believe that any such laws promulgated to date have not had a matenal adverse effect on us, there can be no
assurance that future legistation or regulation would not have a matenial adverse effect on us  Furthermore, a dechne in
consumer preference for plastuic products due to environmental considerations could have a negative effect on our business

Both the FDA and the CPSC can require the manufacturer of defective products to repurchase or recall these products and
may also impose fines or penalties on the manufacturer  Similar laws exast m some states, cities and other countries in which
we sell products [n addition, laws exist in certain states restricting the sale of packaging with certain levels of heavy metals
and imposing fines and penalties for noncompliance  Although we believe we use FD A-approved resins and pigments in our
products that directly contact food and drug products and we beheve our products are i matenal compliance with all
apphicable requirements, we remaim subject to the nisk that our products could be found not to be n compliance with these and
other requirements A recall of any of our products or any fines and penalties imposed n connection with noncomphance
could have a matenally adverse effect on us See ‘Business—Environmental Matters and Government Regulation ’




We may not be able to successfully manage the Avintiv integration and it may disrupt our current plans and
operations.

Our busmess may be negatively affected 1f we are unable to effectively manage our expanded operations and there can be
no assurance that we will be able to successfully integrate the businesses of Avintiv [mplementation of our integration
plans will require sigmficant time and focus from management and may divert attention from the day-to-day operations of
the combined business The integration of Avintiv may be made more difficult by our and Avintiv’s respective efforts to
continue to 1ntegrate other recent acquisitions, mcluding Avintiv’s recent acquisitions  The difficulties and nisks
associated with the integration of Avintiv could create substantial costs, delays or other problems that could adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations As a result of these and other difficulties and nisks, we
may not accomplish the integration of Avintiv smoothly, successfully or within our budgetary expectations or anticipated
tmeframes Accordingly, we may fail to realize some or all of the anticipated benefits of the Avintiv transaction

In the event of a catastrophic loss of one of our key manufacturing facilities, our business would be adversely affected.

While we manufacture our products in a large number of diversified facilities and maintain insurance covering our facilities,
mncluding business interruption nsurance, a catastrophic loss of the use of all or a portion of one of our key manufactunng
facilitres due to accident, labor 1ssues, weather conditions, natural disaster or otherwise, whether short or long-term, could
have a matenal adverse effect on us

We depend on information technology systems and infrastructure to operate our business, system inadequacies or
failures could harm our business.

We rely on the efficient and uninterrupted operation of information technology systems and networks These systems and
networks are potentially vulnerable to damage or interruption from a vanety of sources, including energy or
telecommumcations failures, breakdowns, natural disasters, terronsm, war, computer malware or other mahicious intrusions,
and random attacks To date, system interruptions have been infrequent and have not had a matenial impact on the busmess
However, there can be no assurance that these efforts will prevent future interruptions that would have a materral adverse
effect on our business

Goodwill and other intangibles represent a significant amount of our net worth, and a future wnite-off could result 1n
lower reported net income and a reduction of our net worth

We are required to evaluate goodwl! reflected on our balance sheet when circumstances indicate a potential impatrment, or at
least annually, under the impairment testing guidelines outlined 1n the standard  Future changes in the market multiples, cost
of capital, expected cash flows, or other factors may cause our goodwill to be imparred, resulting 1n a non-cash charge against
results of operations to write off goodwall for the amount of impairment  If a future write-off 1s requured, the charge could
have a material adverse effect on our consohdated net income 1n the perod of any such write off

Disruptions i the overall economy and the financial markets may adversely impact our business.

Our industry 1s affected by macroeconomie factors, including national, regronal, and local economic conditions, employment
levels, and shifts 1 consumer spending patterns Disruptions n the overall economy and volanlity mn the financial markets
could reduce consumer confidence in the economy, negatively affecting consumer spending, which could be harmful to our
financial posiion and results of operations  In such event, decreased cash flow generated from our business may adversely
affect our financial position and our ability to fund our operations In addition, major macroecononuc disruptions involving
the financial markets could adversely affect our ability to access the credit markets and availability of financing for our
operations

We are a holding company and rely on dividends and other payments, advances and transfers of funds from our
subsidiaries to meet eur obligahions and pay dividends,

Berry Plastics Group, Inc has no direct operations and no significant assets other than ownership of 100% of the stock of
Betry Plastics Corporation Because Berry Plastics Group, Inc conducts its operations through its subsidianes, it depends on
those entities for dividends and other payments to generate the funds necessary to meet 1ts financial obhgatons, and to pay
any dividends with respect to our common stock Legal and contractual restnctions in the agreements goverming current and
future mdebtedness of Berry Plastics Group, Inc 's subsidiaries, as well as the financial condition and operating requirements
of Berry Plastics Group, Inc ’s subsidiaries, may imit Berry Plastics Group, Inc ’s ability to obtain cash from its subsidiaries
The earnings from, or other available assets of, Berry Plastics Group, Inc 's subsidiaries may not be sufficient to pay
dividends or make distnbutions or loans to enable Betry Plastics Group, Inc to pay dividends going forward




Our international operations pose risks to our business that may not be present with cur domestic operations.

We have expanded, and may continue to expand operations 1n foreign countnes where we have an existing presence or enter
new foreign markets and expect to increase sales of products as disposable income increases in developing markets Forergn
operations are subject to certain nisks that are unique to doing busmess 1n foreign countries These nisks include fluctuations 1n
foreign currency exchange rates, inflanon, economtc or political mstabtlity, shipping delays in both our products and
receving delays of raw materials, changes in applicable laws, inciuding assessments of income and non-income related taxes,
reduced protection of intellectual property and regulatory policies and vanous trade restrictions including potential changes to
export taxes or countervailing and anti-dumping duties for exported products from these countries We expect that the Avintiy
transaction will rebalance our business mux to a greater percentage of international operations, which wall increase our
exposure 10 these nsks Any of these nsks could have a negative impact on our ability to deliver products to customers on a
competitive and timely basis This could reduce or impair our net sales, profits, cash flows and financial position We are also
subject to the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and other anti-bribery laws that generally bar bribes or unreasonable gifts to
foreign governments or officials We have implemented safeguards and policies to discourage these practices by our
employees and agents However, our existing safeguards and policies to assure comphance and any future improvements may
prove to be less than effective and our employees or agents may engage in conduct for which we might be held responsible If
employees violate our policies, we may be subject to regulatory sanctions Violations of these laws or regulations couid result
1n sanctions including fines, debarment from export privileges and penalties and could adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of cperations

We hold cash and cash equivalents at various foreign subsidiaries that may not be readily available to meet U.S. cash
requirements.

Our varous foreign subsidianes hold cash and cash equivalents and these balances held outside the Urited States may not be
readily available to meet our domestic cash requirements As a result of the Avintiv transaction, we expect a greater
percentage of our cash flows to be generated by our interational operanons 1f we are unable to meet our U § cash
requirements using cash flows from U § operations, cash and cash equivalents held 1n the U S, or by settling loans receivable
with our foreign subsidiaries, 1t may be necessary for us to consider repatnation of earmings held outside the U S This may
require us to record addiional ncome tax expense and remit additional taxes, which could have a matenal effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations

We may not be successful in protecting our intellectual property rights, including our unpatented proprietary know-
how and trade secrets, or 1n avoiding claims that we infringed on the intellectual property rights of others

[n addition to relying on patent and trademark nghts, we rely on unpatented propnetary know-how and trade secrets, and
employ various methods, including confidentiality agreements with employees and consultants, customers and suppliers to
protect our know-how and trade secrets However, these methods and our patents and trademarks may not afford complete
protection and there can be no assurance that others will not independently develop the know-how and trade secrets or
develop better production methods than us  Further, we may not be able to deter current and former employees, contractors
and other parties from breaching agreements and misappropnating proprietary information and 1t 1s possible that third parties
may copy or otherwise obtain and use our information and proprietary technology without authonzation or otherwise infringe
on our intellectual property nghts  Furthermore, no assurance can be given that we wiil not be subject to claims asserting the
infringement of the intellectual property rights of third parties seeking damages, the payment of royalties or licensing fees
and/or ijunctions agamnst the sale of our products  Any such litigation could be protracted and costly and could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial conditon and results of operations

New and stricter legislation and regulations may affect our business and consohdated financial condition and results
of operations

Increased legislative and regulatory activity and burdens, and a more smngent manner in which they are applied (particularly
in the U §), could significantly impact our business and the economy as a whole This includes, among other things, the
possible taxation under U S law of certain income from foreign operations, comphance costs and enforcement under the
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, comphance costs and enforcement under the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act, and costs associated with complying with the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and the regulanons
promuigated thereunder Specifically, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that we mamntain effective disclosure controls and
procedures and nternal control over financial reporting  Cur independent public accountants auditing our financial
statements are required to attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting  In order to continue to
maintain the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internat control over financial reporting sign:ficant
resources and management oversight 1s required




We may not be able to achieve cost savings as a result of our restructuring efforts and productivity and cost reduction
nitiatives

From tune to time we enter nto cost reduction plans designed to deliver cost savings and improve equipment utihization Our
ability to achieve the anticipated cost savings and other benefits from these imtiatives within the expected time frame 15
subject to many estimates and assumptions Additionally, there are many factors which affect our ability to achteve savings as
a result of productivity and cost reduction nitianves, such as difficult economue conditons, increased costs n other areas, the
effects of and costs related to newly acquired entities, mistaken assumptions, and the other nsk factors set forth herein In
addition, any actual savings may be balanced by incremental costs that were not foreseen at the time of the restructuning or
cost reduction inihatives As a result, anticipated savings may not be achieved on the imetable desired or at all Additzonally,
while we execute these restructuring activities to achieve these savings, 1t 1s possible that our attention may be diverted from
our ongoing operations which may have a negative impact on our ongoing operations

If we fail to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting at a reasonable assurance level following the
Avintiv Transaction, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results, and may be required to restate
previously pubhshed financial information which could have a material adverse effect on our operations, investor
confidence 1n our business and the trading prices of our securities.

We are required to assess the effectiveness of our intemal control over financial reporting annually, as required by Section
404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Even though, as of September 26, 2015, we concluded that cur 1nternal control over
financial reporting was effective, we need 1o maintain our processes and systems and adapt them as our business grows
and changes This continuous process of maintaining and adapting our mternal controls and complying with Section 4041
expensive, me-consuming and requires significant management attention As we grow our business or acquire other
businesses, including Avintiv, our internal controls may become more complex and we may require sigmficantly more
resources to ensure they remain effecuve Avintiv 1s not currently subject to the requirement to obtain an attestation report
from its independent registered public accounting firm on 1ts management evaluanion of the effectiveness of its internal
control over financial reporting

Avintiv identified an error 1n the accounting for non-controlling interest in the financial statements of its subsidiary,
AVINTIV Speciatty Materrals, for the unaudited interim penods ended June 28, 2014 and September 27, 2014 relating to its
acquisition of Providéncia, which resulted in the restatement of certain Avintiv Specialty Materials’ consohdated financial
statements for such penods In addition, 1n the past Avintiv has identified and remediated matenal weaknesses and other
deficiencies n 1ts internal control over financial reporting As a result of the restatement, Avintiv concluded that it had a
materal weakness in internal controls over financial reporting Our remediation of a material weakness could require us to
incur significant expense

Item 1B UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None
Item 2. PROPERTIES

We lease or own our principal offices and manufacturing facihties  We believe that our property and equipment 1s well-
maintained, in good operating condition and adequate for our present needs

Principal manufacturing facilines - United States - 70 locations (42 Rigid Packaging, 14 Engineered Matenals, 14 Flexible
Packaging), Canada - 4 locations { | Rigid Packaging, 2 Engineered Matenals, 1 Flexible Packagtng), Mexico - 4 locations (2
Engineered Materials, 2 Flexible Packaging), India - 2 locations (1 Engineered Matenals, 1 Flexible Packaging), The
Netherlands, Belgium, Germany and Australia (Engineered Matenials), Brazil, Malaysia, China, and France (Flexible
Packaging) The Evanswille, Indiana facility serves as our world headquarters

Leased faciliies - Evansville, Indiana, Lawrence, Kansas, Philhpsburg, New Jersey, Bowhing Green, Kentucky, Jackson,
Tennessee, Anaheim, California, Cranbury, New Jersey, Easthampton, Massachusetts, Hanover, Maryland, Balumore,
Maryland, Westerlo, Belgium, Baroda, India, Atlanta, Georgia, Lowsville, Kentucky, Peosta, lowa, Quad Cities, [owa,
Syracuse, New York, Phoenix, Anzona, Aurora, lhnots, Lathrop, Califormia, Tacoma, Washington, Bloomington, Indrana,
Chippewa Falls, Wisconsin, Onllia, Canada, Mexico City, Mexico, Preston, Australia, Johor, Malaysia, Pewaukee,
Wisconsin, Smyrna, Tennessce, Des Moines, lowa, Milwaukee, Wisconsin, Schaumburg, [llinois, Washington, New Jersey,
and Tlalnepantla, Mexico




Avinaiv manufacturing facdines - United States - 5 locations, Brazil — 2 locations, France — 3 locations, China — 2 locations,

United Kingdom — 2 locations (leased), Germany (leased), Canada, Mexico, Argentina, Colomba, [taly, Netherlands, Spamn
and India The Avintiv manufacturing facilities currently owned and located in the United States are 1n the process of being

pledged as collateral for our semor notes and credit facility borrowings

Item3 LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In July 2012, Berry Plastics Corporation ( BPC’ ) was sued by a customer for breach of contract, breach of express warranty,
and breach of implied warranties The customer alleged that in December 2007 and January 2008 BPC supplied the customer
with defective woven polypropylene fabric used to manufacture contamers that it then sold to 1ts customers In November
2015, a jury rendered a judgment 1n favor of the customer, which 1s immatenal to the Company The Company intends to
appeal the judgment and file certam post-trial motions While we are unable to predict the ulimate outcome of this matter,
management expects any final judgment against BPC to be covered by insurance mamtamed by the Company

The Company 1s party to various other legal proceedings, in addition to the matter discussed above, mvolving routing claims
which are incidental to our business Although our legal and financial liability with respect to such proceedings cannot be
estimated with certainty, we believe that any ultimate hability would not be matenal to the business, financial condition,
results of operations or cash flows

Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable
PART 11
Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
Our common stock 1s histed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol ‘BERY™ The following table sets forth, for

the peniods indicated, the high and low sales prices per share of our common stock reported on the New Y ork Stock
Exchange

Fiscal 2015 Fiscal 2014
High Low High Low
1st quarter $3188  $2262 $2357 $i812
2nd quarter 36 52 30 88 2475 2188
3rd quarter 3708 3194 2584 2213
4th quarter 3575 2843 2621 23 80

As of the date of this filing there were approximately 115 active record holders of the common stock, but we estimate the
number of beneficial stockholders to be much higher as a number of our shares are held by brokers or dealers for their
customers 1n street name

During fiscal 2014 and 2015 we did not declare or pay any cash dividends on our common stock  Any future determination as
to the declaraton and payment of dividends, if any, will depend on then existing cond:tions, contractual requirements and
other factors our board of directors may deem relevant The terms of our semor secured credit facihities and the indentures
governing our notes may restnict our ability to pay cash dividends on our common stock  Our debt instruments contam
covenants that restrict our ability to pay divadends on our common stock, as well as the ability of our subsidiaries to pay
dividends to us

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affihated Purchasers

There were no shares of our commeon stock repurchased during fiscal 2015
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Fiscal 2015 Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2011
Statement of Operations Data
Net sales s 4,881 % 4,958 3 4,647 s 4,766 3 4,561
Cost of goods sold 4,012 4,190 3,835 3,984 3,908
Selling, general and admumstrative sy 320 307 317 284
Amortization of intangibles 91 102 103 109 106
Restrueninng and impairment charges (a) 13 30 14 31 221
Operating iIncome 408 a6 386 325 42
Debt extinguishment 94 35 64 — 68
Other expense (income), net 1 () ()] (@) [©)]
Interest expense, net 191 221 244 328 327
Income (loss) before income taxes 122 67 85 4 (346)
Income tax expense (benefit) 6 4 28 2 (47)
Consolidated net income (loss) 86 63 57 2 (299
Net income atributable to non-controlling mterest — 1 — — —
Net income (loss) attribuzable to the Company 3 86 $ 62 b 57 3 2 b (299
Comprehensive mcome {loss) $ 10 3 17 $ 86 $ 3 $ (324}
Net income (loss) avalable to Common

Stockholders

Basic s o072 $§ 053 $ 050 $ 002 $ (355
Duluted 070 05l 048 002 (3 55)
Balance Sheet Data (at period end})
Cash and cash equivalents $ 228 h) 129 $ 142 3 87 3 42
Property, plant and equipment, net 1,294 1,364 1,266 1216 1,250
Total assets 5,028 5,252 5,111 5,060 5,161
Long-term debt obligations, less current portion 3,648 3,344 3,851 4,385 4,525
Total habilities 5,081 5,353 5,307 5512 5,612
Stackholders” equity (deficit) (65) {114y (196) 475) (467}
Cash Flow and other Financal Data
Net cash from operating activities $ 637 3 530 $ 464 $ 479 b 327
Net cash from investing activities (165) 422 (245) (255) (523}
Net cash from financing activities (365) (119) (164) (179) 90

(a} Includes a goodwill impairment charge of $165 milhon n fiscal 2011

Item 7 MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion in conjunction with the consolidated financral statements of Berry Plastics Group,
Inc and its subsidiaries and the accompanying notes thereto, which information 1s included elsewhere hereir This
discussion contains forward-looking statements and involves numerous risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to,
those described m the “Risk Factors™ section Our actual results may differ matertally from those contained in any forward-
looking statements Segment level discussion of the results is disclosed in a manner consistent with the orgamzation structure
at the end of the presented peniod

Overview

Berry Plastics Group, Inc { Berry, ‘we,” or the ‘Company’) 1s a leading provider of value-added plasuc consumer
packaging and engineered matenals with a track record of delivering ugh-quality customized solutions to our customers
Representative examples of our products melude specialty closures, prescription vials, specialty films, adhesives, corrosion
protection materials, as well as drink cups, thm-wall containers, and bottles We sell our products predormunantly into stable,
consumer-oriented end-markets, such as healthcare, personal care, and food and beverage

We believe that we have created one of the largest product hibraries in our industry, allowtng us to be a comprehensive
solution provider to our customers Our customers consist of a diverse mix of leading global, national, mid-sized regional and
local specialty businesses The size and scope of our customer network allows us to introduce new products we develop or
acquire {0 a vast audience that 15 familiar wath our brand In fiscal 2015, no single customer represented more than
approximately 2% of net sales and our top ten customers represented 16% of net sales We believe our manufactunng
processes and our abihity to leverage our scale to reduce expenses on items, such as raw matenals, position us as a low-cost
manufacturer relative to our competitors
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Executive Summary

Business Dunng fiscal 2015, we operated 1n the following four segments Rigrd Open Top, Rignd Closed Top (together our
Rigid Packagmng business), Engineered Materials, and Flexible Packaging The Rigid Packaging business sells primanily
containers, foodservice items, closures, overcaps, bottles, prescription containers, and tubes  Our Engineered Matenals
segment primanty sells pipeline corrosion protection solutions, tapes and adhesives, polyethylene based film products, and
can hiners The Flexible Packaging segment pnmarily sells ligh barrier, multitayer film products, as well as finished flexible
packages such as printed pouches

Raw Matertal Trends Qur pnmary raw matenal 1s plastic resin - Polypropylene and polyethylene account for approximately
90% of our plastic resin pounds purchased Plastic resins are subject to price fluctuations, including those ansing from supply
shortages and changes in the prices of natural gas, crude o1l and other petrechermical intermediates from which resins are
produced The average industry prices, as published in Chem Data, per pound were as follows by fiscal year

Polyethylene Butene Film Polypropylene
2015 2014 2013 2015 2014 2013
1st quarter $386 $82 569 $.92 589 $76
2nd quarter 75 &5 74 g3 95 96
3rd quarter 76 86 77 .68 91 84
4th quarter 73 87 7% .66 92 89

Due to differences 1n the timing of passing through resin cost changes to our customers on escalator/de-escalator programs,
segments are negatively impacted n the short term when plastic resin costs increase and are positively impacted 1n the short
term when plastic resin costs decrease  This timing lag in passing through raw matenal cost changes could affect our results
as plastic resin costs fluctuate

Outiook The Company 15 impacted by general econormc and industrial growth, plastic resin availability and affordabihity,
and general industnal production  Our business has both geographic and end market diversity, which reduces the effect of
any one of these factors on our overall performance  Our results are affected by our ability to pass through raw matenal cost
changes to our customers, improve manufacturing productivity and adapt to volume changes of our customers Consumer
demand for packaged food products has been under pressure for over two years This has put pressure on industry margins
and asset utihzation rates, which the Company has been able to partially offset by pncing actions, asset consolidations,
ntroduction of new products and synergies from acquisihions  During the first half of fiscal 2015 we received a favorable
impact on cash from cperating activities from the declining resin prices  As resin prices stabilize, we do not expect to receive
this benefit from falling resin prices 1n fiscal 2016 Additonally, our fiscal 2016 Adjusted Free Cash Flow guidance of 3475
million assumes flat overall volumes, with our new Health, Hygiene and Specialties division expected to grow above the
overall Company average Components of adjusted free cash flow include $817 mullion of cash flow from operations, less
$285 mullion of additions to property, plant, and equipment and $57 million of payments under our tax receivable agreement
For further information related to Adjusted Free Cash Flow as a non-GAAP financial measure, see ‘Liquidity and Capatal
Resources’

Recent Developments

Revolving Line of Credit

In May 2015, the Company amended the credit agreement relating to its existing $650 million secured revolving credit
facility to extend the maturity date of the revolving credit facility from June 2016 to May 2020 and to reduce interest
margins and certain commtment fees

5'1,% Second Prionty Senior Secured Notes

In June 20135, the Company 1ssued $700 million of 5'%% second priotity sentor secured notes due July 2023 Interest on
the 5'/3% second priority senior secured notes 1s due semi-annually on January 15 and July 15 Proceeds from the 1ssuance
and existing liquidity were used to satisfy and discharge all of the outstanding 9%% second prionty senior secured

notes The Company recogmzed a $94 nullion loss on extinguishment of debt, including $83 milhon of early tender and
redemption costs and an $1 1 mlhon write-off of deferred financing fees

Interest Rate Swap
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In September 2015, the Company entered nto an interest rate swap transaction to protect $1 billion of outstanding vanable
rate term loan debt from future interest rate volanhty The agreement swapped the greater of a three-month vanable LIBOR
contract or 1 00% for a fixed annual rate of 1 7185%, wuh an effective date in December 2015 and expiratton in June 2019

Recent Acquisitions

Qur acquisition strategy 1s focused on improving our long-term financial performance, enhancing our market positions, and
expanding our existing and complementary product ines We seek to obtain businesses for attractive post-synergy multiples,
creating value for our stockholders from synergy realization, leveraging the acquired products across our customer base,
creating new platforms for future growth, and assuming best practices from the businesses we acquire The Company has
included the expected benefits of acquisinon integrations and restructuning plans within our unrealized synergies, which are in
turn recogmzed in earmings after an acquisition has been fully integrated or the restructuning plan 1s completed While the
expected benefits on earnings 1s esumated at the commencement of each transaction, once the execution of the plan and
mtegration occur, we are generally unable to accurately estmate or track what the ultimate effects have been due to system
integrations and movements of activities to muluple facilines As historical business combinations and restructuring plans
have not allowed us te accurately separate reahized synergies compared to what was 1nitially 1dentified, we measure the
synergy realization based on the overall segment profitability post integration

Fiseal 2014 Acquisitions

In fiscal 2014, the Company completed 3 acquisitons which included the Rexam Healthcare Contamers and Closures
business ( C&C™) for a purchase price of $133 million, net of cash acquired, Graphic Flexible Packaging LLC’s flexible
plastics and films business for a purchase price of $61 milhion, net of cash acquired, and a controlling interest (75%) in
Qingdao P&B Co, Ltd for a purchase price of $35 mullion, net of cash acquired See note 2 to the consolhdated financial
statements for further discussion on the respective acguisttions

AVINTIV Inc

In October 2015, the Company acquired 100% of the capital stock of Avintiv for a purchase price of approximately $2 3
ballion which 1s preliminary and subject to adjustment  Avintiv 1s one of the world s leading developers producers, and
marketers of nonwoven specialty matenals used in hygiene, infection prevention, personal care, and h:gh-performance
solutions  With 23 locations in 14 countries, an employee base of over 4,500 people, and the broadest range of process
technologies in the indusiry, Avintiv’s strategically located manufacturing facilities position 1t as a global supphier to many
of the same leading consumer and industrial product manufacturers that Berry supplies and utthze srmlar key raw
materials as Berry’s existing business To finance the purchase, the Company 1ssued $400 million aggregate principal
amount of 6 0% second prionty semor secured notes due 2022 and entered 1nto an incremental assumption agreement to
increase the commitments under the Company’s existing term loan credit agreement by 52 1 billion due 2022 See note 17
to the consohidated financial statements for further discussion on the Avintiv acquisition

Discussion of Results of Operations for Fiscal 2015 Compared to Fiscal 2014

Consolidated Overview Fiscal Year

2015 2014 $ Change % Change
Net sales $ 4,881 $4.958 $(77) (2%)
Operating income § 408 5316 $92 29%
Operating income percentage of net sales 8% 6%

The net sales decrease of $77 rmllion from fiscal 2014 s pnmanly attnibuted to a 3% base volume decline pnimanly related to
soft customer demand, selling pnce decreases of 2% due to the pass through of lower raw matenal costs, and a 1% negative
impact from foreign currency changes partially offset by net sales from businesses acquired in the last twelve months

The operating income increase of $92 nulhion from fiscal 2014 15 pnmanly atinbuted to a $42 mullion improvement in the
relatonship of net selling price to raw matenal and freight costs, $6 million of operating income from businesses acquired in
the last twelve months, a $17 mullion decrease in depreciation and amortization expense, a $19 milhion improvement in
operating performance in manufactunng, and a $56 milhon decrease 1n business integration expenses The $56 mlhon
decrease 1n business ntegration expenses primanly consisted of a decrease in restructuring and impairment costs of $17
miilion and a $39 miilion decrease n costs attributed pnimarily to manufactunng inefficiencies associated wath the 2014 cost
reduction plan and acquisition mtegration costs These improvements were partially offset by $26 muiltion from base volume
declines, a $15 million increase 1n selling, general and adrministranve expenses, and a $7 million negative wmpact from foreign
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currency changes Business integration expenses consist of restructuring and impairment charges, manufactuning
nefficiencies associated with cost reduction plans, major innovation start-up and other business optirmization costs
Acquisition operating tncome {loss) I1s generally analyzed 1n total until the acquisition has been included 1n our results for a
full year

Riged Open Top Fiscal Year

2015 2014 $ Change % Change
Net sales $ 1,055 $1,110 $(55 (5%)
Operating income $71 $34 $37 109%
Operating income percentage of net sales 7% 3%

Net sales 1n the Rigid Open Top segment decreased by $55 million from fiscal 2014 primanly due to a 3% base volume
decline and selling price decreases of 2% due to the pass through of lower raw matenal costs The base volume decline 1s
primarily related to a decline in dairy container product sales due to soft customer demand

The operating income increase of $37 million from fiscal 2014 pnmanly 1s attnbuted to $14 mllion of improvement in the
relationship of net selling price to raw matenial and freight costs and a $37 muthon decrease in business integration expenses
The $37 mullion decrease pnmarily consisted of a decrease n restructunng and impairment costs of $8 million and a $29
million decrease 1n costs attnbuted to manufactuning inefficiencies associated with the 2014 cost reduction plan  These
improvements were partially offset by $7 million in base volume dechnes, a $5 million ncrease 1n selling, general and
admimstrative expenses, and a decline in operating performance 1n manufacturing

Rigiud Closed Top Fiscal Year

2015 2014 $ Change % Change
Net sales $1,474 $ 1,469 $5 0%
Operating income $139 $132 57 5%
Operating income percentage of net sales 9% 9%

Net sales in the Rigrd Closed Top segment increased by $5 mullion from fiscal 2014 primarly as a result of acquisition
volume of 7% attributed to the United States portion of the Healthcare Containers and Closures business purchased from
Rexam ( C&C' ), partially offset by a volume decline of 3% and selling price decreases due to the pass through of lower raw
material costs The volume decline is pnmanly attnbuted to general market sofiness in our closure product offenngs

The operating income increase of $7 million from fiscal 2014 15 pnmanly attnbuted to a $8 milhon improvement 1n operating
performance in manufactuning, $3 milhon of improvement 1n the relationship of net selling price to raw matenial and freight
costs, a $7 nulhion decrease 1n depreciation and amortization expense, and a 33 mullion decline in selling, general, and
admunmistrative expenses, partially offset by $14 muilhon in base volume declines

Engmeered Matenials Fiscal Year

2015 2014 $ Change % Change
Net sales $ 1,397 $1455 $(58) (4%)
Operating income $143 $125 518 14%
Operating income percentage of net sales 10% 9%

Net sales in the Engineered Materals segment decreased by $58 million from fiscal 2014 primanly as a result of a 1% base
volume declhne, selling price decreases of 1% due to the pass through of lower raw material costs, and a 2% negative impact
from foreign currency The base volume decline 1s pnmanly attributed to general market sofiness and lost :mport revenues in
our home and party product offerings

The operating income increase of $18 rmillion from fiscal 2014 1s pnmanly attributed to a decrease 1n restructurning and
mmparrment costs of $6 mullion, a $3 milhon improvement in operating performance in manufacturing, a $13 millon
improvement in the relationship of net selling price to raw matenal and freight costs, and a $7 milhion decrease in
depreciation and amortization expense, partially offset by a $4 million increase in selling, general, and admimstranve
expenses, 2 $3 mulhon negative impact from foreign currency changes, and $2 millien 1n base volume declines

Flexible Packaging Fiscal Year
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2015 2014 $ Change % Change

Net sales $955 $924 $31 3%
Operating income $55 $25 $30 120%
Operating income percentage of net sales 6% 3%

Net sales in Flexible Packaging increased $31 mithon from fiscal 2014 pnimanly as a result of acquusition volume of 9%
partially offset by a 3% base volume dechine and a 3% negative impact from foreign currency changes

The operating income increase of $30 million 1n the Flexible Packaging segment from fiscal 2014 1s prnimanly attributed to a
$9 mullion improvement in operating performance in manufacturing, a $12 milhon mprovement o the relationship of net
selling price to raw matenal and freight costs, an $8 rmullion benefit from businesses acquired in the last 12 months, a $3
million decrease in depreciation and amortization expense, a decrease 1n restructuring and impatrment costs of $4 rmlhon, and
a $10 mulhion decrease of costs pnimanly from manufactuning inefficiencies associated with the 2014 cost reduction plan
partially offset by $3 mullion from base volume declines, $9 mullion of increased selling general and administrative expenses,
and a $4 million negative impact from foreign currency changes

Debt extinguishment Fiscal Year
2015 2014 $ Change % Change
Debt extinguishment $9%4 $35 $59 169%

Debt extinguishment increase of $59 mullion from fiscal 2014 primanly due to tender and redemption costs associated with
the discharge of the 94% second prionty semor secured notes in fiscal 2015 compared to the various costs related to the
discharge of the 9%4% second prionty sentor secured notes in fiscat 2014

Other expense (tncome), net Fiscal Year
2015 2014 $ Change % Change
Other expense {(1ncome), net $1 3N 38 114%

The other expense (income) increase of $8 mullion from fiscal 2014 1s primanily the result of losses realized on the sale and
disposal of assets 1n fiscal 2015 compared to gains on the sale of assets in fiscal 2014

Interest expense Fiscal Year
2015 2014 $ Change % Change
Interest expense, net 5191 $221 (30 (14%)

Interest expense deereased $30 mullion from fiscal 2014 ?nmanly as the result of the retirement of the 9%% second priorty
senior secured notes and corresponding 1ssuance of the 5'/4% second pnonty semor secured notes 1n June 2015 as well as the
retirement of the 9% second prnionty sentor secured notes and corresponding 1ssuance of the 54% second prionty semor
secured notes in May 2014

Income tax expense Fiscal Year
2015 2014 $ Change % Change
Income tax expense $36 $4 $32 800%

We recorded an income tax expense of $36 million n fiscal 2015 The effective tax rate for fiscal 2¢15 compared to fiscal
2014 1s impacted by discrete items, the inclusion of certain international entities for which a full valuation allowance 1s
recognized, and $20 mulhon of federal and state research and development tax credits recognized in fiscal 2014

Discussion of Results of Operations for Fiscal 2014 Compared to Fiscal 2013

Consolidated Overview Fiscal Year

2014 2013 $ Change % Change
Net sales $4,958 $ 4,647 $311 7%
Operating mcome $316 $386 $(70) (18%)
Operanng mcome percentage of net sales 6% 8%

Net sales increased from $4,647 million 1n fiscal 2013 to $4,958 mullien 1n fiscal 2014  This increase 1s primarily atmbuted to
net sales from businesses acquired 1n the last twelve months of 4% and selling price increases of 4% due to higher resin prices
partially offset by base volume dechnes



Operating income decreased from $386 rmllion n fiscal 2013 to $316 nullion 1n fiscal 2014 Thus decrease 1s primanly
attributed to $27 million of raw material and freight cost inflation 1n excess of net selling price increases, $19 rmllton from
base volume dechines described above, a $2 mullion increase m depreciation and amortization expense, and a $57 mllion
increase in business integranion expense The $37 million increase in business integraton expense primarily consisted of an
ncrease in restructuring and impairment costs of $16 mullion, an increase of $9 milhon related to major mnovation start-up
costs and the remaming $32 milhon pnmanly being costs attnbuted to manufactuning mefficiencies associated with the 2014
cost reduction plan and acquisttion integration costs  Manufacturing inefficiencies represent abnormal peniod costs including
wasted matenals, unplanned facility or equipment downtime, and excess labor incurred at both rationalized and receiving
facihties

Rigid Open Top Fiscal Year

2014 2013 $ Change % Change
Net sales $L110 $ 1,127 $(17) (2%)
Operating iIncome $34 $123 $(89) (72%)
Operating income percentage of net sales 3% 11%

Net sales n the Rigid Open Top segment decreased from $1,127 million 1n fiscal 2013 to 51,110 mulhon in fiscal 2014 due to
base volume declines of 5% and product reahignment of 1% partially offset by net selling price increases of 4% The volume
decline was primanly attnibuted to softness in thermoformed drink cups and contamer product offerings

Operating income for the Rigid Open Top segment decreased from $123 mullion in fiscal 2013 to $34 mullion 1n fiscal 2014
This decrease 15 primartly attributed to $18 million from base volume declines, $10 million decline 1n operating performance
n manufacturning, §1 mullion mcrease in selling, general and admnistrative expenses, a $12 milhon declhing in the relationship
of net selling price to raw matenal and freight costs, and a $48 mullion increase in business integration expense primarily
consisting of an increase 1n restructuring and imparrment costs of $12 mullion, an increase of $9 mulhon related to major
innovation start-up costs and the remaming $27 million primarily being costs attnbuted to manufactuning inefficiencies
associated with the 2014 cost reduction plan  These manufacturing inefficiencies represent abnormal pertod costs including
wasted matenals, unplanned facility or equipment downtime, and excess labor incurred at both ranonalized and receiving
facilities

Rigid Closed Top Fiscal Year

2014 2013 $ Change % Change
Net sales $ 1,469 $1,387 $82 6%
Operating income $132 $130 $2 2%
Operating income percentage of net sales 9% 9%

Net sales i the Rigid Closed Top segment increased from $1,387 mullion in fiscal 2013 to $1,469 mullion in fiscal 2014 as a
result of net selling price increases of 2% and C&C acquisition volume of 4%

Operating mcome for the Rigid Closed Top segment increased from $130 mulhon 1n fiscal 2013 to $132 mullion m fiscal
2014 The increase 1s attributed to a $6 mullion decline 1n the relationship of net selling price to raw material costs, $1 rmihon
attmbuted to negative product mix, 33 nullion increase in business tntegrattion expenses attributed to acquisition integration,
and $1 muilhon loss from businesses acquired i the last twelve months offset by $1 million decrease 1n deprecianon and
amortization, a $7 milhon improvement 1n operating performance 1 manufacturing and a $5 million improvement in selling,
general and admimistrative expenses

Engineered Materals Fiscal Year

2014 2013 $ Change % Change
Net sales $ 1,455 $ 1,397 $58 4%
Operating mmcome $125 $116 59 8%
Operating income percentage of net sales 9% 8%

The Engineered Matenials segment net sales increased from $1,397 mullion n fiscal 2013 to $1,455 mullion in fiscal 2014 as a
result of net selling price increases of 4% and base volume growth of 1% partially offset by exited business of 1%

Operating mcome for the Engineered Matenals segment increased from $116 million in fiscal 2013 to $125 mullion m fiscal
2014 This increase 1s primartly attributed to a $19 mullion improvement i manufactuning operating performance, $2 mllion
decline in restructuring expense, a $5 millicn dechine in acquisition integration expense, and a $4 muillion dechine 1n selling,
general and admimstrative expenses partially offset by $14 mullion of raw matenal cost inflaton 1n excess of net selling
prices, $2 million from exited business, and a $5 mullion increase 1n depreciation and amortization expense
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Flexible Packaging Fiscal Year

2014 2013 § Change % Change
Net sales $924 $736 $188 26%
Operating income $25 317 $3 47%
Operating income percentage of net sales 3% 2%

The Flexible Packaging segment net sales increased from $736 million in fiscal 2013 to $924 mullion n fiscal 2014 as a result
of busmnesses acquired 1n the last twelve months of 22%, product realignment of 1% and net sellmg price increases of 5%
partially offset by a 2% volume decline atinbuted to soft customer demand

Operating income for the Flexible Packaging segment increased from $17 million in fiscal 2013 to $25 rmllion 1n fiscal 2014
This increase 15 primanly attnibuted 1o $10 million benefit from businesses acquired 1n the last twelve months, $53 million gain
1n the relanonshtp of net selling price to raw matenal costs, $4 milhon improvement 1n operating performance in
manufacturing and a $2 million dechne in depreciation and amortizaton expense partially offset by an increase in
restructuting and impairment costs of $7 mullion, and a $6 million increase 1n 1 business integration expenses attributed to
acguisition 1ntegration

Debt extinguishment Fiscal Year
2014 2013 § Change % Change
Debt extinguishment $35 564 5029 (45%)

Debt extinguishment decreased from $64 mullion i fiscal 2013 to $35 million in fiscal 2014 The decrease 1s primanly
attributed to the vanious debt extinguishment costs that resulted from our incremental term loan restructunng and use of the
proceeds from our imtial pubhic offering n fiscal 2013 compared to the debt extingwishment costs related to the discharge of
the outstanding 9:% second priority sentor secured notes in fiscal 2014

Other tncome Fiscal Year
2014 2013 $ Change % Change
Other income, net (T $(N $— —%

Cther income remamned flat at $7 mitlion 1n fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2014 pnmarly due to the change in the fair value of
derivative instruments in fiscal 2013 offset by gains recognized on asset disposals in fiscal 2014

Interest expense Fiscal Year
2014 2013 $ Change % Change
Interest expense, net $221 $244 $(23) (9%}

Interest expense decreased from $244 mullion in fiscal 2013 to $221 mllion in fiscal 2014 pnmanly as the result of the
vanous debt extinguishments and refinancings completed in the Jast twenty four months

Income tax expense Fiscal Year
2014 2013 $ Change % Change
Income tax expense $4 $28 $(24) (86%)

We recorded an income tax expense of $4 mullion 1n fiscal 2014 compared to $28 milhion in fiscal 2013 The effecuve tax
rate 15 :impacted by the relative impact of discrete items and certain intermational ennities for which a full valuation allowance
15 recognized and $20 malhion of federal and state research and development tax credits recogmzed n fiscal 2014

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sentor Secured Credit Facility

We manage our global cash requirements considering (1) available funds among the many subsidianes through which we
conduct business, (11) the geographuc locaton of our hquidity needs, and (11) the cost to access international cash balances
We have seruor secured credit facthties consisting of $2 4 billion of term leans and a $650 million asset based revolving ine
of credit. The revolving credit facility matures in May 2020, $1 0 billion of the term loans mature in January 2021, and the
remaining $1 4 billion of term loans mature m February 2020 The availability under the revolving hine of credit 15 the lesser
of $650 mitlion or an amount determined by a defined borrowing base which 1s calculated based on avanlable accounts
recervable and inventory The revolving line of credit allows up to $130 mlhon of letters of credit to be 1ssued instead of
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borrowings under the revolving line of credit. At the end of fiscal 2015, the Company had no outstandmg balance on the
revolving credut facihty, $37 nuilion of outstanding letters of credit and a $142 mullion borrowing base reserve, resulting in
unused borrowing capacity of $471 million under the revolving hine of credit The Company was 1n comphance with all
covenants at the end of fiscal 2015

Our fixed charge coverage ratio, as defined n the revelving credit facility, 1s calculated based on a numerator consisting of
adjusted EBITDA less pro forma adjustments, income taxes paid m cash and capital expenditures, and a denomnator
consisting of scheduled principal payments 1n respect of indebtedness for berrowed money, interest expense and certain
distributions We are obhigated to sustamn a mimmum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1 0 to 1 0 under the revolving credit
facility at any time when the aggregate unused capacity under the revolving credit facility 1s less than 10% of the lesser of the
tevolving credit facihty commitments and the borrowing base (and for 10 business days following the date upon which
availability exceeds such threshold) or duning the continuation of an event of default Our fixed charge ratio was2 9 to | O at
the end of fiscal 2015

Despite not having financial maintenance covenants, our debt agreements contain certain negative covenants  The failure to
comply with these negative covenants could restrict our ability to incur additional indebtedness, effect acquisitions, enter 1nto
certain significant business combinations, make distributions or redeem indebtedness The term loan facility contains a
negative covenant first lien secured leverage ratio covenant of 4 0 to 1 0 on a pro forma basis for a proposed transaction, such
as an acquisition or ncurrence of additional first lien debt  Our first lien secured leverage ratio was 2 8 to 1 0 at the end of
fiscal 2015 In addition to 1ts regular pnneipal payments, in October 2014, the Company elected to make a voluntary one-time
$100 million pnncipal payment on the outstanding term loan, using existing hquicity

A key financial metric utilized in the calculation of the first lien leverage ratio 1s Adjusted EBITDA as defined in the
Company’s seror secured credit facilities The following table reconciles (1) our Adjusted EBITDA to operating income and
(1) our Adjusted Free Cash Flow to cash flow from operating activities, in each case, for fiscal 2015 and the quarterty penod
ended September 26, 2015

Quarterly Period

Ended
Fiscal 2015  September 26, 2015

Adjusted EBITDA $ 820 3 205
Deprecianon and amortization (350) (87)
Business optinuzation and other expense @) (44) (D)
Restructuring and impairment (13) (2)
Unrealized cost savings (3 —
Operating income b 408 $ 107
Cash flow from operating activities 3 637 $ 245
Net additions to property, plant and equipment (162) {56)
Payments of tax recervable agreement 39 —
Adjusted free cash flow 3 436 3 189
Cash flow from investing activities (165) 59
Cash flow from financing activities (365) (7
(@  Inclades bumncss op o penscs and h charges

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Free Cash Flow, as presented n this document, are supplemental financial measures that are
not required by, or presented 1n accordance with, generally accepted accounting principles in the Umited States ( GAAP”)
Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Free Cash Flow are not GAAP financial measures and should not be considered as an
alternanive to operating or net income or cash flows from operating activities, in each case determined 1n accordance with
GAAP We define ‘Adjusted EBITDA™ as operating income before depreciation, amortization, and certain restructuring and
business optimization charges and as adjusted for unrealized cost reductions and acquired businesses, including unrealized
synergies, which are more particularly defined in our credit documents and the indentures governing our notes Adjusted
EBITDA 1s used by our lenders for debt covenant comphance purposes and by our management as one of several measures to
evaluate management performance While the determunation of appropniate adjustments 1n the calculation of Adjusted
EBITDA 1s subject to interpretatton under the terms of our credit faciliies, management believes the adjustments descnbed
above are 1n accordance with the covenants 1n such credit facihties  Adjusted EBITDA ehminates certain charges that we
beheve do not reflect operations and underlying operational performance Although we use Adjusted EBITDA as a financial
measure to assess the performance of our business, the use of Adjusted EBITDA has important limitations, including that (1)
Adjusted EBITDA does not represent funds available for dividends, retnvestment or other discrenonary uses, (2) Adjusied
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EBITDA does not reflect cash outlays for capital expenditures or comractual commumments, (3) Adjusted EBITDA does not
reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, working capttal, {(4) Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the interest expense or
the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments on indebtedness, {5} Adjusted EBITDA does not
reflect income tax expense or the cash necessary to pay mcome taxes, (6) Adjusted EBITDA excludes depreciation and
amortization and, although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized
will otten have to be replaced in the future, and Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect cash requirements for such replacements,
and (7) Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the impact of earmings or charges resulting from matters we constder not to be
indicative of our ongoing operations

We define Adjusted Free Cash Flow™ as cash flow from operating activities less additions to property, plant and equipment
and payments of the tax recervable agreement We use Adjusted Free Cash Flow as a measure of hiquidity because 1t assists us
In assessing our company’s abihity to fund 1ts growth through 1ts generation of cash We believe Adjusted Free Cash Flow 15
useful to an nvestor 1n evaluating our hquidity because Adjusted Free Cash Flow and similar measures are widely used by
winvestors, secunities analysts and other interested parties in our industry to measure a company’s liqudity without regard to
revenue and expense recognition, which can vary depending upon accounting methods  Although we use Adjusted Free Cash
Flow as a hquidity measure to assess our ability to generate cash, the use of Adjusted Free Cash Flow has important
limitations, including that (1) Adjusted Free Cash Flow does not reflect the cash requirements necessary to service principal
payments on our indebtedness, and (2) Adjusted Free Cash Flow removes the impact of accrual basis accounting on asset
accounts and non-debt hability accounts

These non-GAAP financial measures may be calculated differently by other companies, including other companies tn our
ndustry, hmiting their usefulness as comparative measures Because of these linutations, you should consider Adjusted
EBITDA and Adjusted Free Cash Flow alongside other performance measures and liquidity measures, including operating
income, various cash flow metnies, net income and our other GAAP results

Contractual Obliganons and Off Balance Sheet Transactions

Our contractual cash obhigations at the end of fiscal 2015 are summarized in the following table which does not give any
effect to the tax receivable agreement, including the $57 million payment made in October 2015, or income taxes payable as
we cannot reasonably estimate the timing of future cash outflows associated with those commitments

Payvments due by period as of the end of fiscal 2015
Total <1 year 1-3 years  4-5 years >5 years

Long-term debt, excluding capatal

leases $ 3588 % 14 3 28 § 1,327 $2.219
Capital leases (a) 142 28 48 42 24
Fixed interest rate payments 462 63 127 127 145
Variable interest rate payments (b) 464 86 171 169 38
Operating leases 334 50 85 62 137
Funding of pension and other

postretirement obligations (c) 3 3 — — —

Total contractual cash obligations $ 4993 3% 244 § 459 $ 1,727 $ 2563

(a) Includes antictpated micrest of $16 rullon over the ke of the capatal leases.
(b} Based on apphicable interest rates m effect end of Gseal 2015
<) Pension and other postrensement contnbutions hav:bcm inchuded m the above table for the next Sscal year  The amount 15 the estmated contirbutions to our defined benefit plans The
assumptons used by the actuary tn nchudes weghwed average retum on pension assets of approximaicly 7 25% for fiscal 2015 The esomarron may vary based
o the actual return on our plan assets See ﬁ)ntmus 1 the Consolidated Financial Statements of thas Farm 10-K. far more informaaon on these obliganons
Noic T&la excludes $2 5 billion of financing related to the Avianv acquisizons that ecourred 1n fiscal 2016 and Redesmable non-controthing interest of $12 mulhion as of fiscal 2005

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating achivities increased $107 mullion to $637 mulhon 1n fiscal 2015 The change 1s pnmarnly
attributed to improved operating performance and improved working capital The working capital improvement was primanly
attnibuted to declining resin prices duning fiscal 2015

Net cash provided by operating activities increased $66 miihion to $330 mullion in fiscal 2014  The change 1s pnmanly
atmbuted to improved working capital

Cuash Flows from Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities decreased $257 mullion to $165 mulhion in fiscal 2015 primarily as a result of deceased
acquisition activity and lower capital expenditures
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Net cash used n investing activities mcreased $175 milhion to $422 million in fiscal 2014 mullton primanly as a result of an
Increase 1n acquisitton activity in the prior twelve months, offset by lower capital expenditures

Cash Flows from Financing Activinies

Net cash used in financing activities increased $246 mullion to $365 mullion m fiscal 2015 The change 1s pnmanly attributed
to an increase in long-term debt repayments and increased debt financing costs related to the discharge of the 9%4% second
prionty senior secured notes

Net cash used in financing activities decreased $45 mulion to $119 million in fiscal 2014 The change 1s prtmanly atmbuted
to a decline 1n long-term repayments, net of proceeds from the imitial pubhc offering, partially offset by the $32 mullion of tax
recervable agreement payments

Liqudity Outlook

Tax receivable agreement — In connection with the imtial public offering, the Company entered into an income tax receivable
agreement { TRA ") that provides for the payment to pre-imitial public offening stockholders, option holders and holders of our
stock appreciation rights, 85% of the amount of cash savings, if any, in U § federal, foreign, state and local income tax that
are actually realized (or are deemed to be realized n the case of a change of control) as a result of the utilization of our and
our subsidiaries’ net operating losses attributable to periods prior to the imitial public offering  The total TRA balance at the
end of fiscal 2015 was $232 milhion, prior to the $57 mmlhion payment made in October of 2015

At the end of fiscal 2015, our cash balance was $228 million, of which 365 million was located outside the US The
Company has deemed cash located outside the US to be indefimitely reinvested and we intend to use this to finance our
foreign operations and for future intemational expansion  We believe our existing U S based cash and cash flow from U §
opetations, together with available borrowings under our sentor secured credit facilines, will be adequate to meet our hiqundity
needs over the next twelve months We do not expect our free cash flow to be sufficient to cover all long-term debt
obligations and intend to refinance these obligations prior to maturnity  However, we cannot predict our future resulis of
operations and our ability to meet our obligations mvolves numerous nsks and uncertainties, including, but not limuted to,
those descnibed in the ‘Risk Factors™ section in this Form 10-K

Cntical Accounting Polictes and Estimates

We disclose those accounting policies that we consider to be significant 1n determiming the amounts to be utilized for
communicating our consohidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows 1n the first note to our consolidated
financial statements included elsewhere heren  Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of
operations are based on our consohidated financial statements, which have been prepared n accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with these pnnciples
requires management to make estimates and assurnptions that affect amounts reported m the financial statements and
accompanying notes  Our estimates and judgments are based on histonical expenence and on various other factors that are
behieved to be reasonable under the circumstances  Actual results may ditfer from these estimates under difterent
assumptrons or conditions

Revenue Recogmaion Revenue from the sales of products 1s recognized at the time title and nsks and rewards of ownership
pass to the customer (either when the products reach the free-on-board shipping poimnt or destination depending on the
contractual terms), there 1s persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the sales price 15 fixed and determunable and collecuion 1s
reasonably assured

Accrued Rebates We offer vanous rebates to our customers i exchange for thewr purchases These rebate programs are
mdividually negotiated wath our customers and contain a vanety of different terms and conditons Certam rebates are
calculated as flat percentages of purchases, while others include tiered volume incentives These rebates may be payable
monthly, quartetly, or annually The calculation of the accrued rebate balance involves significant management estmates,
espectally where the terms of the rebate involve tiered volume levels that require estimates of expected annual sales These
provisions are based on estimates derived from current program requirements and historical experience  We use all available
information when calculating these reserves  Our accrual for customer rebates was $53 mullion and $50 mulhion as of the end
of fiscal 2015 and 2014, respectively

Impairments of Long-Lived Assets In accordance with the gindance from the FASB for the impairment or disposal of long-
lived assets we review long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying
amount of such assets may not be recoverable [mpairment losses are recorded on long-hved assets used in operations when
indicators of impairment are present and the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are less than
the assets’ carrying amounts The impawrment loss 1s measured by comparing the farr value of the asset to 1ts carrying
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amount We recognized non-cash asset impairment of long-lived assets of $2 oullion, $7 mullion and $5 mullion 1n fiscal
20135, 2014 and 2013, respectively

Goodwill and Other Indefimte Lived Intangible Assets We evaluate goodwll using a qualitative assessment to determine
whether 1t 1s more likely than not that the fair value of any reporting unit 1s less that the carrying amount  If we determine that
the fair value of the reporting unit 1s more likely than not below its carrying amount, we evaluate the goodwill of that
reporting unut using a two-step impairment test. Otherwise, we conclude that no impairment 1s indicated and we do not
perform the two-step impairment test

For purposes of conducting our annual goodwll assessment, we have six reporting unts, Rigid Open Top, Rigid Closed Top,
Engineered Matenals, Flexible Packaging, Tapes and International We determined that each of the components within our
respective reporting units should be aggregated and tested at the respective level as one reporting unit  We reached this
conclusion because within each of our reporting units, we have similar products, produchon processes, markets served or
management oversight which allows us to share assets and resources across the components We regularly re-align our
production equipment and manufactunng facilities in order to take advantage of cost savings opportunities, obtain synergies
and create manufacturing efficiencies  We utilize our research and development centers, design center, tool shops, and
graphics center which all provide benefits to each of the reporting units and work on new products that can benefit multiple
components We also behieve that the goodwill 1s recoverable from the overall operations of the umit given the sirmlanty 1n
production processes, synergies from leveraging the combined resources, common raw matenals, common research and
development, simultar margins, management oversight and similar distnbution methodolegies  There were no indicators of
impairment in the fourth quarter that required us to perform a test for the recoverability of goodwali

In conducting a qualitative assessment, the Company analyzes a variety of events or factors that may influence the farr value
of the reporting unit, including, changes in the carrying amount of the reporting unit, relevant market data for both the
company and 1ts peer compames, industry outlooks, macroeconomic conditions, hiquidity, changes in key personnel, and the
Company’s competitive postton  Sigmificant judgment 15 used to evaluate the totality of these events and factors to make the
determination of whether 1t 1s more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value

We completed our qualitative screen as of the first date of the fourth fiscal quarter and determined that it was more hkely than
not that the farr value of each of our reporting units was greater than the carrying value, thus it was not necessary to perform
Step 1 for any of our reporting units during fiscal 2015 We reached this conclusion based on the increased valuations within
the packaging industry and projected tuture operating results of our reporting units  The 1dentified increased valuations
within the plastics packaging industry 1s supported by the Company’s increase in stock price, market capitalization, and total
enterprise value Future declines 1n packaging market multiple, sigmificant declines 1 operating performance, or significant
dechines in sales could impact future impairment tests or may require a more frequent assessment

Goodwill as of September 26, 2015, by reporting unut 1s as follows

Goodwill as of
September 26, 2015

Rigid Open Top b3 681
Rigid Closed Top 823
Engmmeered Films 52
Tapes 17
Flexible Packaging 61
International 18

$ 1,652

We also performed our annual impairment test for fiscal 2015 of our indefinite lived intangible assets, which relates to the
*Berry Plasucs’ trade name and totaled $207 milhon at September 26, 2015 and determined that no impairment existed The
fair value 1s estimated based on the income approach Qur forecasts included revenue growth consistent with our historical
revenue growth assumptions and inflation  Sumilar to our goodwill, significant declines 1n our sales or operaung performance
could impact future imparment tests or may require a more frequent assessment

Deferred Taxes and Effective Tax Rates We esumate the effective tax rates ( ETR’ ) and associated habihities or assets for
each of our legal enties of ours in accordance with authoritative guidance  We use tax planning to mimimze or defer tax
habilities to future periods  In recording ETRs and related liabilities and assets, we rely upon estumates, which are based upon
our interpretation of Umted States and local tax laws as they apply to our legal entities and our overal! tax structure  Audits
by local tax junsdictions, mcluding the United States Government, could yield different interpretations from our own and
cause the Company to owe more taxes than onginally recorded For intenm periods, we accrue our tax provision at the ETR
that we expect for the full year As the actual results from our various businesses vary from our estimates earlier in the year,
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we adjust the succeeding mterim periods’ ETRs to reflect our best estimate for the year-to-date results and for the full year
As part of the ETR, if we deterrune that a deferred tax asset ansing from temporary differences 15 not likely to be unlized, we
will establish a valuation allowance against that asset to record it at its expected realizable value  [n multiple foreign
junisdictions, the Company believes that it will not generate sufficient future taxable income to realize the related tax benefits
The Company has provided a full valuation allowance against uts foreign net operating losses included within the deferred tax
assets m multiple foreign junsdicnons The Company has not provided a valuation allowance on 1its federal net operating
losses 1n the United States because it has cumulahve income, federal taxable incorne, and has also determuned that future
reversals of 1ts temporary taxable differences will occur in the same penods and are of the same nature as the temporary
differences giving nse to the deferred tax assets Changes in our valuation allowance could also impact our tax recervable
agreement obligahon Qur valuation allowance against deferred tax assets was $29 rmlhon and $56 million as of the end of
fiscal 2015 and 2014, respectively

Based on a cnitical assessment of our accounting policies and the underlying judgments and uncertainties affecting the
apphcatien of those policies, we believe that our consolidated financial statements provide a meaningful and fair perspective
of the Company and 1ts consolidated subsidianies This 1s not to suggest that other risk factors such as changes m economic
conditions, changes 1n matenal costs, our ability to pass through changes in matenal costs, and others could not matenally
adversely impact our consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows 1n future penods

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

interest Rate Sensthvity

We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates primanily through our senior secured credit facilities At
September 26, 2015, our senior secured credit facilities are compnised of (1) $2 4 billion term loans and (1) a2 $650 mullion
revolving credit facility wath no borrowings outstanding  Borrowings under our sentor secured credit facilines bear
nterest, at our option, at either an alternate base rate or an adjusted LIBOR rate for a one-, two-, three- or six month
interest pertod, or a nine- or twelve-month period, if available to all relevant lenders, in each case, plus an applicable
margin The alternate base rate 1s the greater of (1) in the case of our term loans, Credat Suisse’s prime rate or, in the case
of our revolving credit facihty, Bank of America’s prime rate and (n) one-half of | 0% over the weighted average of rates
on overmght Federal Funds as published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York At September 26, 2015, the LIBOR
rate of 0 33% applicable to the term loans was below the LIBOR floor of 1 00 A 0 25% change in EIBOR would not have
a material 1mpact on our nterest expense

In February 2013, the Company entered mto an interest rate swap transaction to protect $1 billion of outstanding varable
rate term loan debt from future interest rate volatihity The agreement swapped the greater of a three-month vanable
LIBOR contract or 1 00% for a fixed annual rate of 2 355%, with an effective date in May 2016 and expiration in May
2019 In June 2013, the Company elected to settle this derivative instrument and received $16 mtllion as a result of this
settlement The offset 1s included tn Accumulated other comprehensive loss and Deferred incorme taxes and will be
amortized to Interest expense from May 2016 through May 2019, the original term of the swap agreement

In March 2014, the Company entered into an 1nterest rate swap transaction to protect $1 billion of outstanding vanable rate
term loan debt from future interest rate volatility The agreement swaps the greater of a three-month vanable LIBOR contract
or 1 00% for a fixed annual rate of 2 59%, with an effective date in February 2016 and expiration in February 2019 The
Company records changes in fair value in Accumulated other comprehensive income

In September 20135, the Company entered into an interest rate swap transactton to protect $1 bilhon of outstanding vanable

rate term loan debt from future interest rate volatility The agreement swapped the greater of a three-month variable LIBOR
contract or 1 00% for a fixed annual rate of 1 7185%, wth an effective date in December 2015 and expiration in June 2019

The Company records changes in fair value in Accumulated other comprehensive income

Resin Cost Sensuivity

We are exposed to market nisk from changes in plastic resin prices that could impact our results of operations and financial
condition Our plastic resin purchasing strategy is to deal with only high-quality, dependable supphiers We beheve that we
have maintained strong relationships with these key supphers and expect that such relabonships will continue into the
foreseeable future However, we can give you no assurances as to such availability or the prices thereof If the price of resin
increased or decreased by 5% 1t would result in a matenal change to our financial statements
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Item 9 CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None
Item 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

We maintain  disclosure controls and procedures,” as such term 15 detined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act, that are
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act 15
recorded, processed, summanzed and reported within the time peniods specified in SEC rules and forms, and that such
information 1s accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, as appropnate to allow tmely decisions regarding required disclosure In designing and evaluating our
disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well
concerved and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the disclosure controls and
procedures are met Additionally, in designing disclosure controls and procedures, our management was required to apply 1its
Judgment 1n evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible disclosure controls and procedures

In connection with the preparanon of our Form 10-K as of and for the fiscal year ended September 26, 2015, we evaluated the
effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of September 26, 2015 Based on this
evaluanon, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls
and procedures were effective as of September 26, 2015

Management’s Report on Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

Management s responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate 1nternal control over financial reporting Because of its
inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements  Also, projection of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods 1s subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance wath the policies or procedures may detenorate  In making this assessment,
management used the criteria set forth by the Commuttee of Sponsoring Orgamzations of the Treadway Commission (COSQ)
in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013 Framework)

Based upon 1ts assessment, management concluded that as of September 26, 2015, the Company’s internal controls over
financial reporting were effective  In addition, Emst & Young LLP as of September 26, 2015, the Company’s independent
registered public accounting firm, provided an attestation report on the Company’s mternal contrel over financial reporting

Changes 1n Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

No changes n our internal control over financial reperting occurred dunng the fourth quarter of fiscal 2015 that have
matenally affected, or are reasonably likely to matenally affect, our internat control over financial reporting
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In October 2015, we acquired 100% of the capital stock of Avintiv which added 23 facilities, 18 of which are located outside
the US Management considers this transaction to be material to the Company’s consolidated financial statements and
believes that the internal controls and procedures of Avintiv will have a material effect on the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting  As we work to integrate and combine Avintiv into the Company’s existing internal control structure
we are evaluating the Avintiv’s existing internal controls and procedures over financial reporting

Item 9B OTHER INFORMATION
None

PART II1

Item 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information required by this Item, with the exception of the Code of Ethics disclosure below, 1s incorporated herein by
reference to our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed 1n connection with the 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Code of Ethics

We have a Code of Busmess Ethics that applies to all directors and employees, mcluding our Chief Executive Officer and
senior financial officers These standards are designed to deter wrongdoing and to promote the highest ethical, moral, and
legal conduct of all employees Our Code of Business Ethics can be obtained, free of charge, by contacting our corporate
headquarters or can be obtained from the Corporate Governance section of the Investors page on the Company s internet
site

Item 11, EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 1s incorporated herein by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed in
connection with the 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Item 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this [tem, 15 incorporated heren by reference to our defimtive Proxy Statement to be filed 1n
connection with the 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this lem 1s incorporated herein by reference to our defimitive Proxy Statement to be filed in
connection with the 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item 1s mcorporated herein by reference to our definitive Proxy Statement to be filed in
connection with the 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
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PART IV

Item 15 EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

1 Financial Statements

The financial statements listed under Item 8 are filed as part of this report
2 Emnancial Statement Schedules

Schedules have been ormtied because they are either not applicable or the required information
has been disclosed in the financial statements or notes thereto

3 Exhibits

The exhibits Listed on the Extubit Index immediately following the signature page of
this annual report are filed as part of this report
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Berry Plastics Group, Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Berry Plastics Group, Inc as of September 26, 2015, and
September 27, 2014, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity (deficit)
and cash flows for each of the three years in the peried ended September 26, 2015 These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company's management Qur responsibility 1s to express an opinion on these financial statements based
on our audits

We conducted our audits n accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (Umited
States) Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes exarmining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures mn the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion

In cur opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all matenal respects, the consohdated financial
posttion of Berry Plastics Group, Inc at September 26, 2015, and September 27, 2014, and the consohdated results of its
operations and 1ts cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended September 26, 2015, in conformuty with U §

generally accepted accounting principles

We also have audited, i accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
Berry Plastics Group, Inc s internal control over financial reporting as of September 26, 2015, based on cnitena established 1n

Internal Control-Integrated Framework 1ssued by the Commuttee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
“(2013 framework)" and our report dated November 23, 2013, expressed an unqualified opimon thereon

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Indianapohs, Indiana
November 23, 2015
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Report of Independent Registered Public Aecounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Berry Plastics Group, Inc

We have audited Berry Plastics Group, Inc s internal control over financial reporting as of September 26, 2015, based on
cniteria established 1n Internal Control—Integrated Framework 1ssued by the Comtmittee of Sponsoring Orgamizations of the
Treadway Commussion (2013 framework) " (the COSO critenia) Berry Plastics Group, Inc s management 1s responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for 1ts assessment of the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management s Report on [nternal Conirols over Financial Reporting
Our responsibthty ts to express an opiion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit 1n accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was mantained 1n all matenal respects Our audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the nisk that a matertal weakness exists, testung and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed nisk, and performung such other
procedures as we considered necessary tn the circumstances We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
optnion

A company’s internal control over financial reporting 1s a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes 1n accordance wath generally
accepted accounting principles A company’s internal control ever financial teporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, 1n reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company, (2} provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
pernmit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only 1n accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company, and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthonzed acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company s assets that could have a matental effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations, mternal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the nsk that controls may become madequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance wath the policies or procedures may deterorate

In our opinton, Berry Plastics Group, Inc mamtained, i all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of September 26, 2015, based on the COSQO cntena

We also have audited, 1n accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the 2015 consolidated financial statements of Berry Plastics Group, Inc and our report dated November 23, 2015, expressed
an unqualified opimon thereon

/s/ Emnst & Young LLP

Indianapols, Indiana
November 23, 2015
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Berry Plastics Group, Inc
Consolidated Statements of Income
{1n millons of dollars)

Fiscal years ended
September 26, 2015 September 27, 2014 September 28, 2013

Net sales $ 4881 $ 4958 3% 4,647
Costs and expenses

Cost of goods sold 4,012 4,190 3,835

Selling, general and adrmmistrative 357 320 307

Amortization of intangibles 91 102 105

Restructuring and imparrment charges 13 30 14
Operating mcome 408 316 386
Debt exnnguishment 94 35 64
Other expense (income), net 1 (@) (N
Interest expense, net 191 221 244
Income before income taxes 122 67 85
[ncome tax expense 36 4 28
Consolhdated net income 86 63 57
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests - 1 -
Net mcome attributable to the Company $ 86 $ 62 8 57
Net income per share

Basic (see footnote 14) s 072 § 053 § 050

Dhluted (see footnote 14) $ 070 §% 051 % 048

Berry Plastics Group, Inc,
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
{in millions of dollars)
Fiscal years ended
September 26, September 27,  September 28,

2015 2014 2013
Consolidated net income $ 86 $ 63 8§ 57
Currency translation 45) (16) &)
Interest rate hedges 3» 3 20
Defined benefit pension and retiree health
benefit plans (16) (1 34
Provision for income taxes related to other
comprehensive income 1tems 18 5 20)
Comprehensive income 10 38 86
Comprehensive income attributable to non-
controlling interests - 1 -
Comprehensive income attributable to the
Company $ 10 $ 373 86

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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Berry Plastics Group, Inc.
Consohdated Balance Sheets
(m mulhons of dollars)

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable, net

Inventories

Deferred income taxes

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Goodwill, intangible assets and deferred costs, net
Other assets
Total assets

Liabilities and stockholders' equaty (deficit)
Current habihines
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other current liabihitries
Current portion of long-term debt
Total current habilities
Long-term debt, less current portion
Deferred income taxes
Other long-term habihties
Total habilities
Commutments and contingencies
Redeemable non-controlling interest
Stockholders' equity (deficit}

Common stock (1199 and 118 0 shares 1ssued, respectively)
Addmonal pard-in capital
Non-contrelling interest
Accumulated deficit
Accunulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders' equity (deficit)
Total habhities and stockholders' equity (deficit)

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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September 26, September 27,
2015 2014
$ 228 % 129
434 491
522 604
162 166
37 42
1,383 1,432
1,294 1,364
2,349 2,455
2 1
$ 5,028 % 5,252
5 330 $ 395
338 314
37 58
705 767
3,648 3,844
387 386
341 356
5,081 5,353
12 13
1 1
406 367
3 3
(356) (442)
(119 {43)
(65) (114)
b 5,028 3 5,252




Berry Plastics Group, Inc

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)
{in miihions of dollars)

Notes Accumulated
Additicnal Recervable- Non Other
Paid-in Common Controlling Comprehensive Accumulated
Common Stock _ Capital Stock Interest Laoss Deflecit Total

Balance at September 29,2012 $ 18 131 % s 13 47 s (561} 5 (475
Stock compensation expense - 16 - - - - 16
Repayment of note receivable - - 2 - - - 2
Proceeds from 1ssuance of common stock - 27 - - - - 27
Termination of redeemable shares - 23 - - - - 23
Proceeds from inihal public offening - 438 - - - - 438
Obligation under tax receivable agreement - (313) - - - - 313
Interest rate hedge, net of tax - - B - 10 - 10
Net income aitnbutable to the Company - - . - - 57 57
Currency translation - - - - &) - (5
Defined benefit pension and retree health

benefit plans, net of tax - . - - 21 - 21
Denvatve amorhization, net of tax - - - - 3 - 3
Balance at September 28, 2013 $ 153 INS§ -8 13 (18) $ (504) $ (196
Stock compensation expense - 15 - - - - 15
Proceeds from 1ssuance of common stock - 17 - - - - 17
Obhigation under tax recervable agreement - 13 - - - - 13
{nterest rate hedge, net of tax - - - - @) - (2)
Net income atmbutable to the Company - - - - - 62 62
Currency translation - - - - (16) - (16}
Defined benefit pension and reuree health

benefit plans, net of tax - - - - (0] - (]
Balance at September 27, 2014 $ 1% 367 § -3 18 {43) § (442) § (114
Stock compensation expense - 21 - - - - 21
Proceeds from 1ssuance of commen stock - 18 - - - - 18
Interest rate hedge, net of tax - - - - @n - (2n
Net income attributable to the Company - - - - - 86 86
Currency translation - - - - (4%) . (45)
Defined benefit pension and retiree health

benefit plans, net of tax - - - - 10y - (10)
Balance at September 26, 2015 $ 15 406 $ -5 3 3 (119) § (356) $ {65)

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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Berry Plastics Group, Inc
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(tn mulhons of dollars)

Fiscal years ended

September 26, 2015 September 27, 2014 September 28, 2013

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Consolidated net income 5 86 $ 63 % 57
Net income attnbutable to non-controlling interests - 1 -
Net income atiributable to the Company h) 86 3 62 3 57
Adjustments to reconcile net cash from operating activities
Depreciation 259 256 236
Amortization of intangibles 91 102 105
Non-cash interest expense 6 7 14
Debt exnnguishment 94 35 64
Settlement of interest rate hedge - - 16
Stock compensation expense 21 15 16
Deferred income tax 26 4) 22
Impairment of long-lived assets 2 7 6
Other non-cash items - 3) (6)
Changes 1n operating assets and habihties
Accounts receivable, net 46 5 3
Inventonies 74 19 {43)
Prepaid expenses and other assets (8) (1) 15
Accounts payable and other habilittes (60) 30 41
Net cash from operating activities 637 530 464
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Additions to property, plant and equipment {180} (215) (239)
Proceeds from sale of assets 18 19 18
Acquisitions of business, net of cash acquired ) (226) (24)
Net cash from nvesting activities (165) 422) (245)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 693 1,627 1,391
Repayment of long-term borrowngs (951) (1,687) (1,978)
Proceeds trom 1ssuance of common stock 18 17 27
Payment of tax receivable agreement (£1Y] (32) (6}
Proceeds from inital pubhic offering - - 438
Repayment of notes receivable - - 2
Debt financing costs (86) (44) (39
Net cash from financing activities (365) (119) (164
Effect of currency translation on cash *® {2) -
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 99 (13) 55
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 129 142 87
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 5 228 § 129 % 142

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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Berry Plastics Group, Inc.

Notes to Consohidated Financial Statements
(in mullions of dollars, except as otherwise noted)

1. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Background

Berry Plastics Group, Inc { Berry” or the Company™) 1s a leading provider of value-added plastic consumer packaging and
engineered matenals with a track record of delivering high-quality custormized solutions to our customers Representative
examples of our products include specialty closures, prescription vials, specialty films, adhesives, corrosion protection
matenals, as well as dnnk cups, thin-wall contamners, and bottles We sell our products predonnantly wnto stable, consumer-
ortented end-markets, such as healthcare, personal care, and food and beverage

Basis of Presentation

Periods presented 1n these financial statements include fiscal periods ending September 26, 2015 ( “fiscal 2015™), September
27, 2014 (“fiscal 2014’ ), and September 28 2013 (“fiscal 2013°) Berry through its wholly-owned subsidiaries operates in
four prunary segments Ragid Open Top, Rigid Closed Top, Engmeered Matenals, and Flexible Packaging The Company’s
customers are located principally throughout the United States, without sigmificant concentration wath any one customer The
Company performs penodic credit evaluations of 1its customers’ financial condition and generally does not require collateral
The Company’s fiscal year 1s based on fifty two week periods The Company has evaluated subsequent events through the
date the financial statements were 13sued

The consohdated financial statements include the accounts of Berry and its subsidhanes, alt of which includes our wholly
owned and majonty owned subsidianes Intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated 1n consolidation
Where our ownership of consolidated subsidianes ts less than 100% the non-controlling interests are reflected in Non-
controlling interest and Redeemable non-controlling interests

Revenue Recogmtion

Revenue from the sales of products 1s recogmzed at the time title and nisks and rewards of ownership pass to the customer,
there 15 persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the sales price 1s fixed and determinable and collection 1s reasonably assured
Prowvisions for certain rebates, sales incentives, trade promotions, coupons, product returns and discounts te customers are
accounted for as reductions 1n gross sales to armve at net sales  In accordance with the Revenue Recogmtion standards of the
Accounting Standards Codification ( ‘Codification or ‘ASC ), the Company provides for these items as reductions of
revenue at the later of the date of the sale or the date the incentive 1s offered These provisions are based on estimates denved
from current program requirements and historical expenence

Shipping, handhing, purchasing, recerving, specting, warchousing, and other costs of distnbution are presented in Cost of
goads seld in the Consolidated Statements of Income The Company classifies amounts charged to 1ts customers for shipping
and handhng n Net sales in the Consolidated Statements of Income

Purchases of Raw Materials and Concentration of Risk

The largest supplier of the Company’s total resin matenal requirements represented approximately 21% of purchases 1n fiscal
2015 The Company uses a variety of supphers to meet its resin requirements

Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed when incurred  The Company incurred research and development
expenditures of $33 million, $32 mllion, and $28 mullion in fiscal 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively

Stock-Based Compensation

The compensation guidance of the FASB requires that the compensation cost relanng to share-based payment transactions be
recognized 1n financial statements based on alternative fair value models  The share-based compensation cost 1s measured
based on the fair value of the equity or habihity mstruments issued The Company’s share-based compensation plan 1s more
fully descnibed 1n Note 12 The Company recorded total stock compensation expense of $21 million, $15 million, and $16
mulhon for fiscal 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively
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In August 2013, the Company recorded an $8 muillion stock compensation charge related to certain modifications to prior
Berry Plastics Incentive Plans, and amended outstanding non-qualified stock option agreements to reflect such modifications

The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes option valuahon model for estimating the farr value of the stock options  The model
allows for the use of a range of assumptions Expected volauhities utilized in the Black-Scholes model are based on implhied
volatlities from traded stocks of peer companies Similarly, the dividend yield 15 based on histonical experience and the
estimate of future dividend yields The nsk-free interest rate 1s derived from the U § Treasury yield curve in effect at the
ume of grant The Company s options have a ten year contractual life For purposes of the valuation model in fiscal years
2015, 2014, and 2013, the Company used the simplified method for determining the granted options expected lives The fair
value for options granted has been estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes model, with the following weighted
average assumptions

Fiscal vear

2015 2014 2013
Risk-free interest rate 1.6 % 13% 06%
Dividend yield 00% 00% 00%
Volanlity factor 30 33 38
Expected optzon life 7 years 7 years 7 years

Foreign Currency

For the non-U S subsidianes that account 1n a functional currency other than U S Dollars, assets and liabihities are translated
mnto U S Dotllars using penod-end exchange rates  Sales and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates n effect
dunng the period  Foreign currency translation gains and losses are included as a component of Accumulated other
comprehensive mcome (loss) within stockholders’ equity (defictt) Gains and losses resulting from foreign currency
transactions are included in the Consolidated Statements of Income

Cash and Cash Equivalents

All ughly lignd investments purchased with a matunty of three months or less from the time of purchase are considered to be
cash equivalents

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company’s accounts receivable and related allowance for doubtful accounts are analyzed in detail on a quarterly basis
and all sigmificant customers with dehnquent balances are reviewed to determine future collectability  The determunations are
based on legal 1ssues (such as bankruptcy status), past history, current financial and credit agency reports, and the experience
of the credit representatives Reserves are established in the quarter in which the Company makes the determination that the
account 15 deemed uncollectible The Company maintains additional reserves based on its lustoncal bad debt experience

The following table summangzes the activity for fiscal years ended for the allowance for doubtful accounts

2015 2014 2013
Allowance for doubtful accounts, beginning $ 3 b 3 8 3
Bad debt expense 2 - 1
Wnite-offs against allowance (2) - ()]
Allowance for doubtful accounts, ending $ 3 3 3 $ 3
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Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market and are valued using the first-in, first-out method Management
penodically reviews nventory balances, using recent and future expected sales to identfy slow-moving and/or obsolete 1tems
The cost of spare parts 15 charged to cost of goods sold when purchased We evaluate our reserve for inventory obsolescence
on a quarterly basis and review inventory on-hand to determune future salability We base our determinations on the age of
the mventory and the experience of our personnel  We reserve imventory that we deem to be not salable in the quarter in
which we make the determination We believe, based on past history and our policies and procedures, that our net inventory
15 salable  Our inventory reserves were $20 million and $19 milhion as of fiscal 2015 and fiscal 2014, respectively  Inventory
as of fiscal 2015 and 2014 was

Inventories 2015 2014
Fimished goods $ 309 $ 353
Raw matenals 213 251

3 522 $ 604

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation 1s computed pnmanly by the straight-lhine method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets ranging from 15 to 25 years for buildings and improvements, 2 to 10 years for machinery,
equipment, and tooling and over the term of the agreement for capital leases Leasehold improvements are depreciated over
the shorter ot the useful hfe of the improvement or the lease term  Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to expense as
curred The Company capitahzed interest of $6 milhion, $6 million, and $5 million m fiscal 2015, 2014, and 2013,
respectively Property, plant and equipment as of fiscal 2015 and 2014 was

Property, plant and equipment 2015 2014
Land, builldings and improvements % 367 b 363
Equipment and construction 1n progress 2,618 2,509

2,985 2,872
Less accumulated depreciation (1,691) {1,508)
$ 1,294 3 1,364

Long-lived Assets

Long-lived assets, including property, plant and equipment and definite lived intangible assets are reviewed for impairment in
accordance with the Property, plant and cquipment standard of the ASC whenever facts and circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable Specifically, this process involves companing an asset’s carrying value to the
estimated undiscounted future cash flows the asset 1s expected to gencrate over its rematning hfe  If this process were to
result in the conclusion that the carrying value of a long-hived asset would not be recoverable, a write-down of the asset to fair
value would be recorded through a charge to operations Fair value 1s determined based upon discounted cash flows or
appraisals as appropniate  Long-lived asscts that are held for sale are reported at the lower of the assets carrying amount or
fair value less costs related to the assets’ dispositon  We recorded impairment charges totaling $2 million, $7 million, and $5
milhon to wnte-down long-lived assets to their net realizable valuables duning fiscal years 2015, 2014, and 2013

respectively
Goodwill

The Company follows the principles provided by the Goodwill and Other Intangibles standard of the ASC Goodwill 1s not
amortzed but rather tested annually for impairment The Company performs their annual impairment assessment on the first
day of the fourth quarter n each respective fiscal year The Company has recognized cumulative charges for goodwll
impairment of $1635 muilhon which occurred in fiscal 2011 For purposes of conducting our annual goodwill impairment test,
the Company determined that we have six reporting units, Open Top, Rigid Closed Top, Engineered Films, Flexible
Packaging, International and Tapes We determined that each of the components within our respective reporting umits should
be aggregated We reached this conclusion because within each of our reporting umits, we have simular products,
management oversight, production processes and markets served which allow us to share assets and resources across the
product lines  We regularly re-align our production equpment and manufacturing facilities in order to take advantage of cost
savings opportunities, obtain synergies and create manufacturing efficiencies  In addition, we utilize our research and

36




development centers, design center, tool shops, and graphics center which all provide benefits to each of the reporting umts
and work on new products that can benefit muluple product lines  We also believe that the goodwall 1s recoverable from the
overall operations of the unit given the simlanty in production processes, synergies from leveraging the combimned resources,
common raw matenals, common research and development, similar margins and similar distnbution methodologies  In fiscal
year 2015, the Company apphed the qualitative assessment and deternuned that 1t 1s more hikely than not that the fair value of
the reporting unit exceeded the carrying amount of each of their reporting umits  The Company reached this conclusion based
on the increased valuations within the packaging industry and projected future operating results and an mcrease in the
Company’s common stock price, market capitahization and total enterpnise value In fiscal 2014, the Company applied the
quahtative assessment to determune whether 1t 1s more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit may be less than
the carrying amount, and concluded that it was more hikely than not that the fair value of each reporting umit exceeded the
carrying except for the Rigid Open Top reporting unit due to the decline in that umits operaung mncome The Company
completed step 1 m Fiscal 2014 of the impairment test which indicated no imparrment existed for Rigid Open Top In fiscal
2013, the Company applied the quahtative assessment to determine whether it 1s more likely than not that the fair value of the
reporting unit may be less than the carrying amount and determined that no impairment was indicated and therefore did not
perform a two-step imparrment test

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwll by reportable segment are as follows

Rigid Open Rugid Closed Engineered Flexible

Top Top Maternals Packaging Total
Balance as of fiscal 2013 $ 681 $ 831 $ 73 b3 49 $ 1,634
Foreign currency translation adjustment - (2) (2) - 4)
Acquisitions (realignment), net - (2 - 3 29
Balance as of fiscal 2014 3 681 b 827 $ 71 b 80 5 1,659
Foreign currency translation adjustment - (5) @ (¥)) 6]
Acquisitions, net - 1 - 1 2
Balance as of fiscal 2015 3 681 $ 823 $ 69 $ 79 $ 1,652

Deferred Financing Fees

Deferred financing fees are amortized to mnterest expense using the effective interest method over the lives of the respective
debt agreements  Pursuant to ASC 835-30 the Company presents $5 mullion of its debt 1ssuance costs on the balance sheet as
a deduction from the carrying amount of the related debt habuity instead of a deferred charge In additon, the remaining $4
million of deferred charges, which relate to the Company s revolving line of credit, are presented in Goodwll, intangible
assets and deferred costs, net

Intangible Assets

Customer relanonships are being amortized using an accelerated amortization method which corresponds with the customer
attnition rates used in the 1rutal valuation of the intangibles over the estimated life of the relationships which range from 11 to
20 years Trademarks that are expected to remarn 10 use, which are indefinite hived intangible assets, are required to be
reviewed for impairment annually Technology intangibles are being amortized using the straight-line method over the
estimated hfe of the technology which 1s 11 years License intangibles are being amortized using the straight-line method
over the life of the license which 1s 10 years Patent intangibles are being amortized using the straight-hine method over the
shorter of the estimated hfe of the technology or the patent expiration date ranging from 0 to 20 years, with a weighted-
average life of 15 years The Company evaluates the remaining usetul life of intangible assets on a periodic basis to
determine whether events and circumstances warrant a revision to the remaining useful ife  We completed the annual
impawrment test of our indefinite hived trade names and noted no impairment.

Customer Other Accumulated
Relationships  Trademarks _ Intangibles Amortization Total
Balance as of fiscal 2013 3 1,134 $ 283 $ 107 $  (668) $ 856
Adjustment for income taxes (2 - H - 3
Foreign currency translation adjustment &)} (1) 2) 4 {(2)
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Amortizahion expense - - - (102) (102)

Acquisition intangibles 38 - 5 - 43
Balance as of fiscal 2014 s 1,167 g 282 $ 109 $ (766) $ 792
Adjustment for income taxes (3) - - - (k)]
Foreign currency translation adjustment (6) (1) 3 4 ®
Amortization expense - - - on on
Acquisition intangbles 1 - - - 1
Balance as of fiscal 2015 3 1,159 $ 281 3 106 $ (853) $ 693

Insurable Liabilities

The Company records liabilities for the selfainsured portion of workers’ compensation, health, product, general and auto
habihties The determination of these liabilities and related expenses 1s dependent on claims experience  For most of these
habilines, claims mcurred but not yet reported are estimated based upon historical claims experience

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and hability approach, which requires the recognition of deferred tax
assets and Liabilities for the expected future tax consequence of events that have been recognized 1n the Company’s financial
statements or income tax returns  Income taxes are recogmzed dunng the penod in which the underlying transactions are
recorded Deferred taxes, with the exception of non-deductible goodwill, are provided for temporary differences between
amounts of assets and liabilities as recorded for financial reporting purposes and such amounts as measured by tax laws If
the Company determines that a deferred tax asset ansing from temporary differences 1s not likely to be utilized, the Company
will establish a valuation allowance against that asset to record it at 1ts expected realizable value The Company recogmzes
uncertamn tax positions when 1t 1s more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained upon examinauon by relevant
taxing authonties, based on the technical menits of the position The amount recogmzed 1s measured as the largest amount of
benefit that 1s greater than 50% likely of being realized upon uvltimate settlement. The Company’s effective tax rate 1s
dependent on many factors including the mmpact of enacted tax laws in junsdictions i which the Company operates, the
amount of earnings by junisdiction, due to varying tax rates in ¢ach country, and the Company’s ability to utihze foreign tax
credits related to foreign taxes pad on foreign earnings that will be remutted to the United States

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) 1s comprised of net income (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss) Qther
comprehensive losses include net unrealized gains or losses resulting from currency translations of foreign subsidianes,
changes n the value of our derivative instruments and adjustments to the pension Liabihty

The accumulated balances related to each component of other comprehensive income (loss) were as follows (amounts below
are net of taxes)

Defined Benefit Accumulated Other
Currency Pension and Retiree Interest Rate Comprehensive

Translation Health Benefit Plans Hedges Loss
Balance as of fiscal 2012 3 (15) $ 29 $ 3) $ N
Other comprehensive income (loss) (5) 34 20 49
Provision for income taxes - (13} (7) (20)
Balance as of fiscal 2013 5 (20) 3 (8) 3 10 $ (18)
Other comprehensive loss (16) (i 3) (30)
Provision for income taxes - 4 1 5
Balance as of fiscal 2014 b (36) $ (15) 3 8 3 (43)
Other comprehensive loss (45) (16) 33 (94)
Provision for income taxes - 6 12 18
Balance as of fiscal 2015 s (81) $ (25) $ (13) $ (119)
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Accrued Rebates

The Company offers various rebates to customers based on purchases These rebate programs are individually negotiated
with customers and contain a variety of different terms and conditions  Certain rebates are calculated as flat percentages of
purchases, while others included tiered volume incentives  These rebates may be payable monthly, quarterly, or annually
The calculation of the accrued rebate balance involves significant management estmates, especially where the terms of the
rebate involve tiered volume levels that require esimates of expected annual sales These provisions are based on estimates
dertved from current program requirements and historical experience  The acerual for customner rebates was $53 mllion and
$50 mllion at the end of fiscal 2015 and 2014, respectively and 1s tncluded in Accrued expenses and other current

liabihities

Pension

Pension benefit costs include assumptions for the discount rate, retirement age, and expected return on plan assets Retiree
medical plan costs include assumptions for the discount rate, retirement age, and health-care-cost trend rates Periodically, the
Company evaluates the discount rate and the expected return on plan assets in 1ts defined benefit pension and retiree health
benefit plans In evaluating these assumptions, the Company considers many factors, including an evaluation ot the discount
rates, expected return on plan assets and the health-care-cost trend rates of other companies, historical assumptions compared
with actual results, an analysis of current market conditions and asset allocanons, and the views of advisers

Net Income Per Share

The Company calcuiates basic net iIncome per share based on the weighted-average number of ocutstanding common shares
The Company calculates diluted net income per share based on the weighted-average number of outstanding common shares
plus the effect of dilutive securities

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements 1n conformaty with U 8 generally accepted accounting pninciples requeres
management to make extensive use of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and habiliies and
disclosure of contingent assets and lhiabilities and the reported amounts of sales and expenses  Actual results could differ
matenally from these eshmates Changes 1n estinates are recorded 11 results of operations 1 the period that the event or
circumstances giving rise to such changes occur

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
Income Taxes

[n July 2013, the FASB 1ssued Accounting Standards Update No 2013-11 Income Taxes (Topic 740), Presentation of an
Unrecogmzed Tax Benefit When a Net Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Leoss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward
Exists (a consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force) (“ASU 2013-11")  An entity 1s required to present
unrecogmzed tax benefits as a decrease in a net operating loss, sinular tax loss or tax credit camryforward 1f certain cntena are
met The deterrmnation of whether a deferred tax asset 15 available 1s based on the unrecognized tax benefit and the deferred
tax asset that exists at the reporting date and presumes disallowance of the tax position at the reporting date  The guidance
will eliminate the diversity 1n practice in the presentation of unrecognized tax benefits but will not alter the way in which
entities assess deferred tax assets for realizability The adoption of ASU 2013-11 did not have an tmpact on the Company’s
consohdated financial statements

Revenue Recognition

In May 2014, the Financiat Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 1ssued a final standard on revenue recognition Under the
new standard, an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promuised goods or services to customers in an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services In
order te do so, an entity would follow the five-step process for in-scope transactions 1) 1dentify the contract with a
customer, 2) wdentify the separate performance obligations n the contract, 3) determine the transaction price, 4) allocate
the transaction price to the separate performance obligations 1n the contract, and 5) recognize revenue when (or as) the
entity satisfies a performance obhigation For public entities, the provisions of the new standard are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017 and interim penods therein  Early adoption for annual reporting
periods beginning after December 15, 2016 1s perrmitted An entity can apply the new revenue standard retrospectively to
each prior reporting period presented or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of imttially applying the standard
recogmized at the date of mtial application 1n retained earnings There are areas within the standard that are currently
under review and reconsideration by the FASB, which could lead to future updates to the standard As the outcomes of this
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process could lead to changes to the standard, we are stll in the process of determining our approach to the adoption of
this new standard, and the anticipated impact to the consolidated financial statements

Classification of Debt Issuance Costs

In April 20135, the FASB 1ssued Accounting Standards Update No 2015-03, Interest - Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-
306) Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs This standard amends existing guidance to require the presentatton
of debt 1ssuance cests 1n the balance sheet as a deduction from the carrying amount of the related debt liability instead of a
deferred charge lt1s effective for annual reporting peniods beginming after December 15, 2015, but early adoption 1s
permitted The Company has elected to early adopt this gmdance The eftects of the adoption for fiscal years ended
September 26, 2015 and September 27, 2014, were a $5 million and $16 milhon, respectively, reduction of Goodwall,
intangible assets, and deferred costs, net and Long-term debt, less current portion on the consolidated balance sheets by
amounts classified as deferred costs

Inventory

[n July 20135, the FASB issued ASU 2015-11, Simplyyung the Measurement of Inventory to smphify the gwdance on the
subsequent measurement of inveatory, excluding inventory measured using last-in, first out or the retail inventory method
Under the new standard, inventory should be at the lower of cost and net realizable value The new accounting guidance 13
effective for intenim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016 with early adoption permutted We are evaluating
the effect this guidance will have on our consohdated financial statements and related disclosures, but do not expect the
standard to have a matenal effect on our financial statements

Business Combinations

In September 2015, the FASB 1ssued ASU 2015-16, Business Combinations (Topic 805)- Stmplifyung the accounting for
Measurement-Pertod Adpustments requires that the cumulative impact of a measurement penod adjustment {including the
impact on prior periods) be recognized m the reporting penod in which the adjustment 1s 1dentficd  Entities should present
separately on the face of the income statement or disclose in the footnotes the portion of the measurement period adjustment
recorded in current-penod earnings by line item that would have been recorded in previous reporting penods if the adjustment
had been recognized as of the acquisition date The new guidance 1s effective for mtenm and annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2015 with early adoption permitted We are evaluating the effect this guidance wall have on cur consolidated
financial statements and related disclosures, but do not expect the standard to have a matenal effect on our financial
statements

2. Acquisition
Graptuc Flexible Packaging LLC's Flexible Plastics and Films

In September 2013, the Company acquired Graphic Fiexible Packaging LLC s flexible plastics and films busiess ( Graphic
Plastics ) for a purchase price of $61 million, net of cash acquired Graphic Plastics 15 a producer of wraps, films, pouches,
and bags for the food, medical, industnal, personal care, and pet food markets The Graphic Plastics business 1s operated 1n
the Company’s Flexible Packaging segment To finance the purchase, the Company used existing hquidity The Graphic
Plastics acquisition has been accounted for under the purchase method of accounting, and accordingly, the purchase price has
been allocated to the identifiable assets and liabilities based on estimated fair values at the acquisition date  The acquired
assets and assumed habilities consisted of working capital of $8 million, property and equipment of $18 nullion, ntangible
assets of $25 million, goodwll of $14 million and other long-term labiiities of $4 milion

Quingdao P&B Co, Ltd

In January 2014, the Company acquired the controlhing interest (75%) of Qingdao P&B Co, Ltd (“P&B’ ) for a purchase
price of $35 mllion, net of cash acquired P&B utihizes thermoform, injection, and automated asserbly manufactuning
processes to produce products for multiple markets across China as well as globally, most predominately serving the food and
personal care markets P&B 1s operated 1n the Flexible Packaging segment. To finance the purchase, the Company used
existing hquidity The P&B acquisiion has been accounted for under the purchase method of accounting, and accordingly,
the purchase price has been allocated to the idenufiable assets and habihines based on estimated fair values at the acquisiion
date As part of the P&B acquisition, the non-controlling interest holder has a put option, and the Company has a call option
on the remaining 25% interest in P&B that becomes effective three years from the date of purchase Upon execution of the
put or call option, the purchase price for the remainng equity nterest will be determined based on the far value at the date of
execution The non-controlling interest of P&B 1s recorded 1in Redeemable non-controlling interest and will be camed at fair
value with adjustments 1n the fair value being recorded 1n Additional paid-in capital  The acquired assets and assumed
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lhabilities consisted of working capital of $2 mullion, property and equipment of $24 mullion, intangible assets of $11 mitlion,
goodwall of $10 million, other long-term liabilities of $4 million and Redeemable non-controlling 1nterest of $13 million

Rexam Healthcare Containers and Closures

In June 2014, the Company acquired Rexam’s Healthcare Containers and Closures bustness { C&C” ) for a purchase pnice of
$133 mllion, net of cash acquired The C&C business produces bottles, closures and specialty products for pharmaceutical
and aver-the-counter applications Facilities located 1n the Umited States are operated 1n the Rigid Closed Top segment, and
locations outside the United States are operated m the Flexible Packaging segment. To finance the purchase, the Company
used existing hquidity The C&C acquisition has been accounted for under the purchase method of accounting, and
accordingly, the purchase price has been allocated to the identifiable assets and habilities based on estimated fair values at the
acquisiion date  The acquired assets and assumed hiabilities consisted of working capital of $32 mullion, property and
equrpment of $85 million, non-current deferred tax asset of $3 million, intangible assets of $9 milhon, goodwill of $7 million,
and other long-term liabihties of $3 mulhon

3. Long-Term Debt

Revolving Line of Credit

[n May 2015, the Company amended the credit agreement relating to its existing $650 nullion secured revolving credit
facility to extend the matunty date ot the revolving credit facility from June 2016 to May 2020 and to reduce interest
margins and certain commitment fees

5'/3% Second Priority Senior Secured Notes

In June 2015, the Company 1ssued $700 rmillion of 5'/% second prionty sentor secured notes due July 2023 [nterest on the
5'%4% second priority semor secured notes 1s due semi-annualiy on January 15 and July 15 Proceeds from the 1ssuance and
existing hquidity were used to satisfy and discharge all of the outstanding 9%% second prionty senior secured notes The
Company recognmized a $94 million loss on extinguishment of debt, including $83 million of early tender and redemption
costs and an $1 1 million write-off of deferred financing fees

Long-term debt consists of the following

Maturity September 26, September 27,

Date 2015 2014
Term loan February 2020 3 1,369 $ 138
Term loan January 2021 1,019 1,122
Revolving line of credit May 2020 — —
5'/:% Second Priority Semor Secured Notes July 2023 700 —
5'1,% Second Priority Semor Secured Notes May 2022 500 500
9%% Second Prionty Senior Secured Notes Retired —_ 300
Debt discounts and deferred fees 29) (36)
Captal leases and other Various 126 133
Total long-term debt 3,685 3,902
Current portion of long-term debt 37) (58)
Long-term debt, less current portion s 3,648 $ 3,844

Berry Plasties Corporanon Semor Secured Credit Facility

Our wholly owned subsidiary Berry Plastics Corporation’s sentor secured credit facilities consist of $2 4 billion of term loans
and a $650 rmilhon asset-based revolving line of credit  The availabthity under the revolving line of credit 15 the lesser of 3650
mitlion or based on a defined borrowing base which is calculated based on available accounts receivable and inventory

The borrowings under the semor secured credit facilities bear interest at a rate equal to an applicable margin plus, as

determined at the Company’s option, either (a) a base rate determined by reference to the higher of (1) the prime rate of

Credit Suisse, Cayman Islands Branch, as administrative agent, in the case of the term loan facility or Bank of America, N A,

as admunistrative agent, 1n the case of the revolving credit facility and (2) the U S federal funds rate plus 1/2 of 1% or (b)

LIBOR determuned by reference to the costs of funds for eurodollar depesits in dollars in the London interbank market for the

interest penod relevant to such borrowing Bank Compliance for certain addinonal costs  The applicable margin for LIBOR
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rate borrowings under the revolving credit facthiy range from 1 25% to | 75%, term loan maning in January 2021 15 2 75%
annum with a LIBOR floor of 1 00% and the term loan maturing tn February 2020 1s 2 50% per annum wath a LIBOR floor
of 1 00%

In addition to paying interest on outstanding pnincipal under the senior secured credit facilities, the Company is required to
pay a commtment fee to the lenders under the revelving credit facihuies in respect of the unutthzed commitments thereunder
at a rate equal to 0 25% to 0 325% per annum depending on the average daily available unused borrowing capacity The
Company also pays a customary letter of credit fee, including a fronting fee of 0 125% per annum of the stated amount of
each outstanding letter of credit, and customary agency fees

The term loan facility requires mimimum quarterly principal payments of 54 rmllion, with the remaining amount payable upon
matunty The Company may voluntanly repay outstanding loans under the semor secured credit facilities at any time wathout
premium or penalty, other than customary - breakage™ costs with respect to eurodollar loans In October 2014, the Company
elected to make a voluntary one-time $100 million pnincipal payment on the $1 billion outstanding term loan, using existing
hgudity The senior secured credit facihities contain vanious restricive covenants that, among cther things and subject to
specified exceptions, prohbit the Company from prepaying other indebtedness, and restnct its ability to incur indebtedness or
liens, make investments or declare or pay any dividends  All obligations under the semior secured credit facilines are
unconditionally guaranteed by the Company and, subject to certain exceptions, each of the Company s existing and future
direct and indirect domestic subsidianies The guarantees of those obligations are secured by substantially all of the
Company’s assets as well as those of each domestic subsidiary guarantor

Our fixed charge coverage ratio, as defined tn the revolving credit facihity, 1s calculated based on a numerator consisting of
adjusted EBITDA less pro forma adjustments, income taxes paid in cash and capital expenditures, and a denominator
consisting of scheduled principal payments in respect of indebtedness for borrowed money, interest expense and certain
distributions We are obhgated to sustain a mimimum fixed charge coverage ratio of | 0 to 1 0 under the revolving credit
facihity at any ume when the aggregate unused capacity under the revolving credit facility 1s less than 10% of the lesser of the
revolving credit facility commitments and the borrowing base (and for 10 business days following the date upon wiich
availability exceeds such threshold) or during the continuation of an event of default At the end of fiscal 2013, the Company
had unused borrowing capacity of $471 million under the revolving credit facility and thus was not subject to the minimum
fixed charge coverage ratio covenant Our fixed charge ratio was 2 % to 1 0 at the end of fiscal 2015

Despite not having financial maintenance covenants, our debt agreements contain certain negative covenants The failure to
comply with these negative covenants could restrict our ability to incur additional indebtedness, effect acquisitions, enter into
certam significant business combinations, make distributions or redeem indebtedness The term loan facility contains a
negative covenant first lien secured leverage ratio covenant of 4 0 to | 0 on a pro forma basis for a proposed transaction, such
as an acquisition or ncurrence of addional first lien debt  Our first lien secured leverage ratio was 2 8 to 1 O at the end of
fiscal 2015

Future maturities of long-term debt as of fiscal year end 2015 are as follows

Fiscal Year Maturibes

2016 5 37
2017 35
2018 35
2019 33
2020 1,332
Thereafier 2242
$ 3,714

Interest paid was $191 million, $214 rullion, and $245 mullion in fiscal 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively
4 Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurements

As part of the overall nsk management, the Company uses derivative instrumnents to reduce exposure to changes in interest
rates attnbuted to the Company’s floating-rate borrowings For those derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as
hedging instruments, the Company must designate the hedging instrument, based upon the exposure being hedged, as a fair
value hedge, cash flow hedge, or a hedge of a net mvestment in a foreign operation  To the extent hedging relationshups are
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found to be effective, as determined by FASB guidance, changes in fair value of the derivatives are offset by changes in the
fair value of the related hedged item are recorded to Accumulated other comprehensive loss Management behieves hedge
effectiveness 15 evaluated properly 1n preparation of the financial statements, and did not 1dentify any hedge ineffectiveness
related to the interest rate swaps recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheets in the current penod

Cash Flow Hedging Strategy

For dervative instruments that are designated and quahify as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the
dervative instrument 1s reported as a component of Accumulated other comprehensive loss and reclassified into earmings in
the same line item associated with the forecasted transaction and n the same period or periods during which the hedged
transaction affects earnings The categonzation of the framework used to price these denvative instruments 15 considered a
Level 3, due to the subjective nature of the unchservable inputs used to determune the fair value

In February 2013, the Company entered into an nterest rate swap transaction to protect $1 biliion of ounstanding vanable rate
term loan debt from future mterest rate volatility The agreement swapped the greater of a three-month vanable LIBOR
contract or | 00% for a fixed annual rate of 2 355%, wath an effective date in May 2016 and expiration in May 2019 In June
2013, the Company elected to settle thus derivative instrument and recerved $16 milhion as a result of this settlement The
offset 15 included 1n Accumulated other comprehensive loss and Deferred income taxes and will be amertized to Interest
expense from May 2016 through May 2019, the original term of the swap agreement

In March 2014, the Company entered nto an inferest rate swap transaction to manage cash flow vanability associated with $1
billion of outstanding vaniable rate term loan debt The agreement swaps the greater of a three-month vanable LIBOR
contract or 1 00% for a fixed annual rate of 2 59%, with an effective date 1n February 2016 and expiration 1n February 2019
The Company records changes in fair value in Accumulated other comprehensive income

In September 2015, the Company entered 1nto an interest rate swap transaction to protect $1 llion of outstanding vanable

rate term loan debt from future wnterest rate volatlity The agreement swapped the greater of a three-month vanable LIBOR
contract or | 00% for a fixed annual rate of 1 7185%, wath an effective date in December 2015 and expiration in June 2019

The Company records changes in fair value in Accumulated other comprehensive income

Liability Denvatives
Balance Sheet Location 2015 2014
Interest rate swaps Other long-term habihties § 36 $§ 3

The Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures section of the ASC defines fair value as the prnice that would be recerved to sell
an asset or pa:d to transfer a lizbility in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, and
establishes a framework for measuring fair value This section also establishes a three-level hierarchy (Level 1, 2, or 3} for
fair value measurements based upon the observability of inputs to the valuation of an asset or hability as of the measurement
date This section also requires the consideration of the counterparty’s or the Company’s nonperformance risk when
assessing fair value

The Company’s mterest rate swap fawr values were determined using Level 2 inputs as other sigmficant observable inputs
were not available

The Company’s financial instruments consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, long-term debt, interest rate swap
agreements and capital lease obligations  The book value of our long-term indebtedness exceeded fair value by $55 mullion
as of fiscal 2015, while conversely, its fair value exceeded book value by $86 mullion as of fiscal 2014 The Company’s long-
term debt fair values were determined using Level 2 inputs as other sigmficant observable mputs were not available

Non-recurring Fair Value Measurements

The Company has certain assets that are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis under the circumstances and events
descnibed in Note 1 and Note 10 The assets are adjusted to fair value only when the carrying values exceed the fair values
The categonzation of the framework used to price the assets 1s considered Level 3, due to the subjective nature of the
unobservable inputs used to determine the fair value (see Note | and 10 for addinonal discussion) These assets include
pnmanly our definite lived and indefinite lived intangible assets, including Goodwall and our property plant and equipment
The Company reviews Goedwill and other indefinite lived assets for impairment as of the first day of the fourth fiscal quarter
each year, and more frequently 1f impairment indicators exist The Company determined Goodwall and other indefinite hived
assets were not impaired 1n our annual fiscal 2014 assessment and no mpairment indicators existed n the current quarter
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Included 1n the following tables are the major categories of assets measured at far value on a non-recurring basis along with
the impairment loss recogmzed on the fair value measurement for the fiscal years then ended

As of the end of fiscal 2015

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Impairment
Indefinue-lived trademarks 5 — $ — $ 207 5 207 5 —
Goodwill — —_ 1,652 1,652 —_
Definite lived intangible assets — — 486 486 —
Property, plant, and equipment — — 1,294 1,294 2
Total $ — 5 — $ 3,639 $ 3,639 $

As of the end of fiscal 2014

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Impawrment
Indefinite-lived trademarks 5§ — 5 — $ 207 $ 207 § —
Goodwill — —_ 1,659 1,659 —
Definite hived intangible assets — — 585 585 —
Property, plant, and equipment — — 1,364 1,364 7
Total § — § — $ 3815 $ 3,815 5 7

As of the end of fiscal 2013

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Impairment
Indefinite-lived trademarks 5 — 5 — $ 207 5 207 $} —
Goodwill — — 1,634 1,634 —
Definite lived intangible assets — — 649 649 5
Property, plant, and equipment — — 1,266 1,266 —
Total 3 — $ — $ 3,756 $ 3,756 b 5

Valaation of Goodwill and Indefimite Lved Intangible Assets

ASC Topic 350 requires the Company to test goodwill for impairment at least annually The Company conducts the
impairment test on the first day of the fourth fiscal quarter, unless indications of impairment exist during an interim period
When assessing its goodwill for impairment, the Company utilizes a comparable company market approach i combination
with a discounted cash flow analysis to determune the fair value of their reporting units and corroborate the fair values The
Company utihizes a relief from royalty method to value their indefinite lived trademarks and uses the forecasts that are
consistent with those used in the reporting unit analysis The Company has six reporting units more fully discussed in Note 1
In fiscal 2015, fiscal 2014 and fiscal 2013 the Company detenmined no impairment existed The Company did not recognize
any impawrment charges on the indefinite lived intangible assets 1n any of the years presented

Valuation of Property, Plant and Equipment and Definite Lived Intangible Assets

The Company penodically realigns their manufactuning operations which results in facihitres being closed and shut down and
equipment transferred to other facihities or equipment being scrapped or sold  The Company utihizes appraised values to
corroborate the fair value of the facilines and has utihzed a scrap value based on prior facihity shut downs to estmate the far
value of the equipment, which has approximated the actual value that was received When impairment indicators exist, the
Company will also perform an undiscounted cash flow analysis to determune the recoverability of the Company’s long-lived
assets The Company incurred an impawment charges of $2 mill:on and $7 mllion related to property, plant and equipment
m fiscal years 2015 and 2014, respectively The Company did not incur an impairment charge related to property, plant and
equipment i fiscal 2013 The Company did not incur an impairment charge on definite lived intangible assets in fiscal 2015
or 2014 The Company did recognize an impairment charge of $5 million on definite lived intangible assets related to the
decision to exit certain businesses during fiscal 2013



5. Goodwill, Intangible Assets and Deferred Costs

The following table sets forth the gross carrying amount and accurmnulated amortization of the Company’s goodwill, intangible
assets and deferred costs as of the fiscal year end

Amortization

2015 2014 Period
Effective Interest

Deferred financing fees — revolving line of credit $ 4 $ 8 Method
Accumulated amoruzation -— )
Deferred financing fees, net 4 4
Goodwll 1,652 1,659 indefinite lived
Customer relationships 1,159 1,167 1120 years
Trademarks (indefimte lived) 207 207 Indefimite hved
Trademarks (definite hived} 74 75 §-15 years
Other intangibles 106 109 10-20 years
Accumulated amortization (853) (766)
Intangible assets, net 693 797
Total goodwll, intangible assets and deferred costs $ 2349 $ 2455

Future amortizanon expense for definite lived intangibles as of fiscal 20135 for the next five fiscal years 15 $84 million, $72
mullion, $55 milhon, $50 milhien and $46 million each year for fiscal years ending 2016, 2017, 2018, 2019, and 2020,
respectively

6. Lease and Other Comnmutments and Contingencies

The Company leases certain property, plant and equipment under long-term lease agreements Property, plant, and equpment
under capital leases are reflected on the Company’s balance sheet as owned The Company entered into new capital lease
obligations totaling $29 million, $45 million, and $49 million duning fiscal 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively, with various
lease exprration dates through 2025 The Company records amortizaticn of capital leases in Cost of goods sold 1n the
Consolidated Statement of [ncome  Assets under opetating leases are not recorded on the Company’s balance sheet
Operanng leases expire at various dates in the future with certain leases containing renewal options  The Company had
minimum lease payments or contingent rentals of $24 mullion and $24 million and asset retirement obhigations of $8 million
and $7 mullion as of fiscal 2015 and 2014, respectively Total rental expense from operating leases was $53 mullion, $54
millien, and $53 million in fiscal 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively

Future minimum lease payments for capital leases and non-cancellable operating leases with mitial terms in excess of one
year as of fiscal year end 2015 are as follows

Capital QOperating

Leases Leases
2016 $ 2 $ 50
2017 25 46
2018 23 39
2019 21 34
2020 21 28
Thereafter 24 137
142 $ 334
Less amount representing interest (16)

Present value of net mimmum lease payments $ 126
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The Company has entered nto a senes of sale-leaseback transactions, pursuant to which 1t sold certain faciliies and 1s leasing
these facilities back The Company has a total deferred gain on these sale-leaseback transactions of $28 nullion and 1s
amortzing this over the respective lease of the facility

Litigation

In July 2012, Berry Plasuics Corporation { BPC’ )} was sued by a customer for breach of contract, breach of express warranty,
and breach of implied warranties The customer alleged that in December 2007 and January 2008 BPC supphed the customer
with defective woven polypropylene fabric used to manufacture containers that 1t then sold to its customers In November
2015, a jury rendered a judgment in favor of the customer which 1s immaterial to the Company The Company intends to
appeal the judgment and file certain post-trial motions While we are unable to predict the ulimate outcome of this matter,
management expects any final judgment against BPC to be covered by insurance maintained by the Company

The Company 1s party to various legal proceedings in addinon to the above involving routine claims which are incidental to
its business  Although the Company’s legal and financial habthity with respect to such proceedings cannot be estimated with
certamnty, the Company behieves that any ulumate hability would not be matenal to its financial posinon, results of operations
or cash flows The Company has vanous purchase commutments for raw materials, supplies and property and equipment
incidental to the ordinary conduct of business

Collective Bargaining Agreements

At the end of fiscal 2015, we employed approximately 16,000 employees, and approximately 12% of those employees are
covered by collective bargaining agreements There are four agreements, representing approximately 56% of unton
employees, due for renegotiation in fiscal 2016 The remaining agreements expire after fiscal 2016 Our relations with
employees under collective bargainng agreements remain satisfactory and there have been no significant work stoppages or

other labor disputes during the past three years
7. Accrued Expenses, Other Current Liab:hties and Other Long-Term Liablities

The following table sets forth the totals included in Accrued expenses and other current habilities as of fiscal year end

2015 2014
Employee compensation, payroll, and other taxes $ 102 3 91
Interest k] 44
Rebates 53. 50
Property taxes 13 13
Restructuring 10 13
Tax recervable agreement cbligation 57 39
Other 65 64

$ 338 3 314

The following table sets forth the totals included in Other long-term habilities as of fiscal year end

2015 2014
Lease rettrement obhigation $ 12 3 1]
Sale-lease back deferred gamn 28 10
Pension hiability 57 45
Tax receivable agreement obhigation 175 234
Interest rate swaps 16 3
Other 13 13

$ 341 $ 356




8. Income Taxes

The Company 1s being taxed at the U S corporate level as a C-Corporation and has provided U S Federal, State and foreign
INCome taxes

Significant components of income tax expense for the fiscal years ended are as follows

2015 2014 2013
Current
United States
Federal $ - - $ -
State 3 5 2
Non-U S 4
Current income tax provision 10 8 6
Deferred
United States
Federal 31 3 26
State ) 5 3
Non-U § [E)) ()} ')
Deferred income tax expense (benefit) 26 (4) 22
Expense for income taxes $ 36 5 4 b 28

U § mcome from continuing operations before income taxes was $99 million, $58 million, and $77 nullion for fiscal 2015,

2014, and 2013, respectively Non-U S income from continuing operations before income taxes was $23 mullion, $9 nullion,
and $8 mullion for fiscal 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively

The reconciliation between U S Federal income taxes at the statutory rate and the Company s benefit for income taxes on
continuing operations for fiscal year end 1s follows

2015 2014 2013
U S Federal income tax expense at the statutory rate § 43 $ 23 $ 29
Adjustments to reconcile to the income tax provision
U S State income tax expense 7 5 Q)]
Changes 1n state valuation allowance N - -
Research and development credits &) (20) -
Permanent differences - @ -
Changes n foreign valuation allowance - | 1
Rate differences between U S and foreign 2 n (3]
APB 23 - ) -
Other - {n 1
Expense for income taxes $ 36 5 4 $ 28

Deferred income taxes result from temporary differences between the amount of assets and hab:lities recognized for financial
reporting and tax purposes The components of the net deferred income tax hability as of fiscal year end are as follows

2015 2014

Deferred tax assets
Alfowance for doubtful accounts $ 3 $§ 3
Deferred gan on sale-leaseback 12 13
Accrued habilites and reserves 84 58

47




Inventories 9 10

Net operating loss carryforward 130 248
Alternative minimum tax {AMT) credit carryforward 9 9
Research and development credit carryforward 22 22
Federal and state tax credits 7 13
Other 3 g
Total deferred tax assets 279 385
Valuation allowance 29) (56)
Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance 250 329
Deferred tax habilines
Property, plant and equipment 137 157
Intangible assets 256 279
Debt extinguishment 79 107
Other 3 6
Total deferred tax habilities 475 549
Net deferred tax hability $ (225 $ (220

In the United States the Company had $361 mullion of federal net operating loss carryforwards as of fiscal 2015, which will
be available to offset future taxable income As of fiscal year end 2013, the Company had state and foreign net operating loss
carryforwards of $684 million and $52 mulhon, respectively, which will be available to offset future taxable income If not
used, the federal net operating loss carryforwards will expire in future years beginning 2025 through 2031 AMT credit
carryforwards totaling $9 mlhon are available to the Company indefinitely to reduce future years’ federal income taxes The
state net operating loss carryforwards will expire in future years beginning 1in 2015 through 2033 The Company has $22
milhon and $7 million of federal and state Research and Development tax credits, respectively, that will expire in future years
begnning 2027 through 2034 [n addinon, the Company has $4 milhion of other state tax credits that wall expire 1n future
years begmning in 2016 through 2020

In connection with the imitial public offering, the Company entered into an income tax receivable agreement that provides for
the payment to pre-iitial public offenng stockholders, option holders and holders of our stock appreciation rights, 85% of the
amount of cash savings, if any, m U S federal, foreign, state and local income tax that are actually realized {or are deemed to
be realized in the case of a change of control) as a result of the utihization of our and our subsidianies’ net operating losses
atmbutable to periods prior to the imtial public offening  Based on the Company's assumptions using various items, including
valuation analysis and current tax law, the Company recorded an obligation of $313 million which was recognized as a
reduction of Paid-in capital on the Consohdated Balance Sheets The Company made payments of $39 mullion, $32 million,
and $5 mullton in fiscal years 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively The balance at the end of fiscal 2015 was $232 oulhion, and
the Company made its fiscal year 2016 payment of $57 mullion in October 2015

The Company behieves that it will not generate sufficient future taxable income to realize the tax benefits in certain foreign
Junsdictions related to the deferred tax assets The Company also has certain state net operating losses that may expire before
they are fully utihized Therefore, the Company has provided a full valuation allowance agamnst certain of its fereign deferred
tax assets and a valuation allowance against certain of 1ts state deferred tax assets included within the deferred tax assets

Prior changes in ownership have created hmatations under Sec 382 of the Internal Revenue Code on annual usage of net
operating loss carryforwards However, all of the Company’s Federal net operating loss carryforwards should be available for
use within the next five years As part of the effective tax rate calculation, 1f we determine that a deferred tax asset ansing
from temporary differences 1s not likely to be utiized, we wall establish a valuation allowance against that asset to record 1t at
1ts expected realizable value The Company has not provided a valuatien allowance on 1ts federal net operating loss
carryforwards in the United States because 1t has cumulanve income, federal taxable income and has also determuned that
future reversals of its temporary taxable differences will occur in the same periods and are of the same nature as the

temporary differences giving rise to the deferved tax assets  Our valuation allowance against deferred tax assets was $29
mllion and $56 mullion as of fiscal year end 2015 and 2014, respectively, related to the foreign and U S state operations

The Company paid cash taxes of $% mill:on, $7 mullion, and $3 million 1n fiscal 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively
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Uncertain Tax Posttions

We adopted the provisions of the Income Taxes standard of the Codification Thus interpretation clarifies the accounting for
uncertainty in income taxes recogmized in an enterpnise’s financial statements 1n accordance with gindance provide by FASB
and prescribes a recognitton threshold of more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination Our policy to include
interest and penalties related to gross unrecogmzed tax benefits within our provision for income taxes did not change

The following table summanzes the activity related to our gross unrecogmzed tax benefits for fiscal year end

2015 2014

Beginning unrecogmzed tax benefits $ 14 5 14
Gross increases — tax positions n prior pernods - 2
Gross increases — current period tax posiions 1 1

Settlements (L 2)

Lapse of statute of himitations n (]
Ending unrecognized tax benefits $ 13 5 14

The amount of unrecogmzed tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect our effective tax rate was $7 million and $8 million
for fiscal year end 2015 and 2014

As of fiscal year end 2015, we had $2 mu1llion accrued for payment of interest and penalties related to our uncertain tax
posittons  Our penalnes and interest related to uncertain tax posions are included in income tax expense

We and our subsidiaries are routinely examined by various taxing authonties Although we file U S federal, US state, and

foreign tax returns, our major tax jurisdiction 1s the U S The IRS has completed an examination of our 2003, 2010 and 201 |
tax years Our 2004 - 2009, 2012 and 2013 tax years remain subject to examunation by the IRS  There are vanous other on-
going audtts 1n various other jurisdictions that are not matenal to our financial statements

As of the end of fiscal 2015, we had unremitted earmings from foreign subsidianes that are permanently reinvested for
continued use in foreign operations, accordingly, no provision for U S federal or state income taxes has been provided
thereon If distributed, those earnings would result in additonal income tax expense at approximately the U S statutory rate
Determunation of the amount of unrecogmzed deferred US income tax liability 1s not practicable due to the complexities
associated with its hypothetical calculation

9 Retirement Plan

The Company maintains four defined benefit pension plans which cover certain manufacturing facthities  The Company also
maintains a retiree health plan, which covers certain healthcare and hife insurance benefits for certatn retired employees and
their spouses Each of the four defined benefit plans and the retiree health plan are frozen plans The Company uses fiscal
year end as a measurement date for the renrement plans

The Company sponsors two defined contribution 401(k) renrement plans covening substantially all employees Contnibutions
are based upon a fixed dollar amount for employees who participate and percentages of employee contributions at specified
thresholds Centribution expense for these plans was $7 mullion, $8 mulhon, and $7 mulhion for fiscal 2015, 2014, and 2013,
respectively

The projected benefit obhigatons of the Company’s plans presented herein are equal to the accumulated benefit obligations of
such plans The tables below exclude the obligations related to the foreign plans, which carry immatenial balances The net
amount of hability recogmized 1s included 1n Other long-term liabilittes on the Consolidated Balance Sheets

Defined Benefit Pension Plans Retiree Health Plan
2015 2014 2015 2014
Change 1o Projected Benefit Obligations (PBO)
PBO at beginning of period $ 192 $ 178 $ 2 $ p3
Service cost 1 - - -
Interest cost 8 8 - -
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Actuanal loss (gain) 11 15 - -

Benefit settlements ¢4 - - -
Benefits paid (10) (9 - -
PBQ at end of period 3 193 3 192 $ 2 5 2

Change in Fair Value of Plan Assets

Plan assets at beginming of penod 3 154 3 141 s - 3 -
Actual return on plan assets 3 15 - -
Company contnbutions 4 7 - -
Benefit settlements ()] - - -
Benefits paid {10) {9 - -
Plan assets at end of period 142 154 - -
Net amount recogmzed $ {51) s (38) s 2) 3 Q)

At the end of fiscal 2015 the Company had $45 mullion of net unreahzed losses recorded m Accumulated other
comprehensive loss on the Consolidated Balance Sheets  The Company expects $2 million to be realized in fiscal 2016, and
the remaining to be recognized over the next 13 fiscal years

The following table presents sigmificant weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligation and benefit cost
for the fiscal years ended

Defined Benefit Pension Plans Retiree Health Plan
(Percents) 2015 2014 2015 2014
Weighted-average assumptions
Discount rate for benefit obligation 4.0 40 3.0 29
Discount rate for net benefit cost 4.0 45 2.9 31
Expected return on plan assets for net benefit costs 725 g0 N/A N/A

In evaluating the expected return on plan assets, Berry considered 1ts historical assumptions compared with actual resuits, an
analysis of current market conditions, asset allocations, and the views of advisors The return on plan assets 1s derived from
target allocations and historical yield by asset type Health-care-cost trend rates were assumed to increase at an annual rate of
7 0% A one-percentage-point change in these assumed health care cost trend rates would not have a material impact on our
postretirement benefit obligation

In accordance with the guidance from the FASB for employers’ disclosure about postretirement benefit plan assets the table
below discloses fair values of each pension plan asset category and level within the fair value hierarchy in which it falls
There were no matenal changes or transfers between level 3 assets and the other levels

Fiscal 2015 Asset Category Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Cash and cash equivalents $ 8 $ - S - $ 8
U S large cap cormingled equity funds - 37 - 37
U'S mud cap equity mutual funds 24 - - 24
U S small cap equity mutual funds 2 - - 2
Internationat equity mutual funds 6 - - 6
Real estate equity investment funds 3 - - 3
Corporate bond mutual funds 21 - - 21
Corporate bonds - 31 - 3t
Guaranteed investment account - - 10 10
Total $ 64 3 68 $ 10 $ 142
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Fiscal 2014 Asset Category Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Cash and cash equivalents $ 7 h) - $ - $ 7
U S large cap comingled equity funds - 47 - 47
U'S mid eap equity mutual funds 27 - - 27
U'S small cap equity mutual funds 6 - - 6
International equity mutual funds 10 - - 10
Real estate equity investment funds 3 - - 3
Corporate bond mutual funds 28 - - 28
Corporate bonds - 15 - 15
Guaranteed investment account - - 11 11
Total $ 81 3 62 $ 11 $ 154

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropnate, are expected to be paid for the fiscal

year end

2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021-2025

Defined Benefit

$

$ -

Retiree Health

Net pension and retiree health benefit expense included the following components as of fiscal year end

Defined Benefit Pension Plans

Service cost
Interest cost
Amortization
Settlement charge

Expected return on plan
Net periodic benefit cost

Our defined benefit pension plan asset allocations as of fiscal year end are as follows

Asset Category

Equity secunities and equity-like instruments 51 %

Debt securities and debt-like

Other
Total

2015 2014 2013

5 1 $ $ -

8 8 7

1 - 3

2 - -

(12) (11) (10)

5 - $ (3) $ -
2015 2014

60 %
37 28
12 12

100 % 100 %

The Company’s retirement plan assets are invested with the objective of providing the plans the ability to fund current and
future benefit payment requirements while mimmizing annual Company contributions  The retirement plans held $17 rmilhion
of the Company’s stock at the end of fiscal 2015 The Company re-addresses the allocation of its investments on a regular

basis
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10 Restructuring and Impairment Charges

The Company has announced vanous restructuring plans in the last three fiscal years which included shutting down facihties
1 all four of the Company’s operating segments In all instances, the majonty of the operations from rationahzed facilities
was transferred to other faciliies within the respective division

Duning fiscal 2013, the Company made the decision to exit certain operations n the Engineered Matenals division  This
decision resulted 1n a non-cash imparrment charges of $6 mulhion related to certain intangible assets deemed to have no further
value recorded 1n Restructuring and impawrment charges on the Consolidated Statement of Income The exited businesses
were immatenal to the Company and the Engineered Materials segment

During fiscal 2014, the Company mitated a cost reduction plan designed to deliver meamngful cost savings and improved
equipment utilizanon The Company announced the intention to shut down four facihities, one each in Rigid Open Top, Rigid
Closed Top, Engineered Materials and Flexible Packaging divisiens  The affected Rigid Open Top, Rigid Closed Top,
Engneered Matenals, and Flexible Packaging businesses accounted for approximately $111 million, $14 mullion, $9 mullien,
and $28 mullion of annual net sales, respectively

During fiscal 2015, the Company announced the intentton to shut down two facilities, one each 1n the Rigid Open Top and
Engineered Matenals divisions The affected Rigid Open Top and Engineered Materials businesses accounted for
approximately $24 million and $16 mullion of annual net sales, respectively

Since 2013, total expected costs attrbuted to restructuning programs total 360 mullion with $3 mlhon remaiming to be
recognized 1n the future

Expected Total Cumulative charges To be Recognized

Costs through Fiscal 2015 n Future
Severance and terrmnation benefits  $ 18 $ 18 $ -
Facility exit costs 27 24 3
Asset impairment 15 15 -
Total $ 60 $ 57 $ 3

The tables below sets forth the sigmficant components of the restructuring charges recognized for the fiscal years ended, by
segment

2015 2014 2013
Rigid Open Top $ 5 $ 13 $ 1
Rigid Closed Top 3 2 3
Engineered Matenals 1 7 9
Flexible Packaging 4 8 1
Consolidated $ 13 $ 30 $ 14

The table below sets forth the activity wath respect to the restructuning accrual

Employee Facility Non-cash
Severance Exat charges Total
and Benefits Costs

Balance as of fiscal 2013 5 2 2 - 4
Charges 9 14 7 30
Non-cash asset impairment - - (7N )
Cash payments (6) (8) - {14)
Balance as of fiscal 2014 5 5 $ 8 $ - $ 13
Charges 4 7 2 13
Non-cash asset impairment - - 2) 2)
Cash payments (U] &) - (14)
Balance as of fiscal 2015 3 2 $ 8 $ - $ 10




11. Related Party Transactions

In connection with the term loan refinancing entered nto 1n January 2014, the Company paid a $1 mill:on underwnting
fee to Apollo Global Securnities, LLC, an affiliate of Apollo that served as a manager of the offering

The Company made payments telated to the income tax receivable agreement ( TRA") of $39 millton in October 2014 and
$32 rmlhion n October 2013, of which Apollo Global Management, LLC received $33 million and $28 mullion, respectively
Mr Robert V Semunara, a member of the Company s Board of Directors, has been employed by Apollo since 2003

12 Stockholders’ Equity

Equity Incennve Plans

In fiscal 2015, the Company adopted the 2015 Berry Plastics Group, Inc Long-Term Incentive Plan (2015 Plan ) to align its
incentive plans with plans of similar public companies by permitting for, among other things, the 1ssuance of performance-
based awards The 2015 Plan authonized the 1ssuance of 7,500,000 shares, an increase of approximately 5 mullion over the
rematning available for grant at the time of adoption As of the adoption of the 2015 Plan, no shares were permitted to be

1ssued any other previous Incennve Plans

The Company recognized total stock-based compensanon expense of $21 mulhon, $15 million, and $16 mullion for fiscal
2015,2014 and 2013 The intrinsic value of options exercised n fiscal 2015 was 341 mullion

Information related to the equity incentive plans as of the fiscal year end 1s as follows

2015 2014
Number Weighted Number Weighted
of Average of Average
Shares Exercise Shares Exercise
(in thousands) Price (n thousands) Price
Options outstanding, beginming of penod 10,504 § 1313 10,035 § 996
Options granted 2,839 2878 2,727 2102
Options excraised (1,929) 907 {2,137 819
Options forfeited or cancelled (63) 17 59 (i21) 1520
Options outstanding, end of period 11,351 § 1771 10,504 $ 1313
Option price range at end of penod 3 3.04-33.91 § 3042295
Opuions exercisable at end of period 4,786 5,098
Opuons avatlable for grant at penod end 7,500 5,349
Weighted average fair value of options granted $ 951 $ 753

during penod

The fair value for options granted has been estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes model, generally with the

following weighted average assumptions

2015 2014 2013
Risk-free interest rate 1.6 % 13% 6%
Divnidend yeld 0.00 % 0 00% 0 00%
Volauhty factor 30 i3 38
Expected option hife 7 years 7 years 7 years

The following table summarizes information about the options outstanding as of fiscal 2015

Range of Exercioe Number

Intringle Value of  Weighted Remaining Weighted Number Intrinsic Vatue of  Unrecognized Weighted
Prices [A] di O dl C I Life Exercise Price Exercisable Exercisable Compersation  Recognition Perlod
53043391 11351 5143 7 years SL7TI 4786 592 $ 2 ycars
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13 Segment and Geographic Data

Berry s operations are organized into four reportable segments Rigtd Open Top, Rigid Closed Top, Engmeered Materials,
and Flexible Packaging The Company has manufactuning and distnbution centers in the United States, Canada, Mexico,
Belgium, France, Austrahia, Germany, Brazi}, Malaysia, [ndia, China, and the Netherlands The North Amencan operation
represents $5% of the Company s net sales, 96% of total long-lived assets, and 95% of the total assets Selected information
by reportable segment 15 presented mn the following table

2015 2014 2013
Net sales
Rigid Open Top $ 1,055 $ 1,110 $ 1,127
Rigid Closed Top 1,474 1,469 1,387
Engineered Matenals 1,397 1,455 1,397
Flexible Packaging 955 924 736
Total $ 4,881 5 4,958 $ 4,647
Qperating income
Rigid Open Top $ 1 3 kY] $ 123
Rigid Closed Top 139 132 130
Engineered Materals 143 125 116
Flexible Packaging 55 25 17
Total $ 408 $ 316 $ 386
Depreciation and amortization
Rigid Open Top $ 93 b 92 $ 90
Rigid Closed Top 131 133 129
Engineered Matenals 68 75 71
Flexible Packaging 58 58 51
Total $ 350 b 358 3 341
2015 2014
Total assets
Rigid Open Top $ 1,765 $ 1,812
Rigid Closed Top 1,852 1,953
Engineered Matenals 679 726
Flexible Packaging 732 761
Total assets $ 5,028 $ 5,252
Goodwill
Rigid Open Top $ 681 3 681
Rigid Closed Top 823 827
Engineered Matenals 69 71
Filexible Packaging 79 R0
Total goodwll 5 1,652 $ 1,659

14, Net Income per Share

Basic net mcome per share 1s calculated by dividing the net income attributable to common stockholders by the weighted-
average number of common shares outstanding during the penod, without consideration for common stock equivalents
Dhluted net income per share 1s computed by dividing the net income attnbutable to common stockholders by the weighted-
average number of common share equivalents outstanding for the period determined using the treasury-stock method and the
if-converted method For purposes of this calculation, stock options are considered to be common stock equivalents and are
only included m the calcutation of diluted net income per share when their effect 1s dilutive  The Company’s redeemable
common stock 15 included n the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for calculanng bastc and diluted

net income per share
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The following tables and discussion provide a reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of the basic and diluted net
income per share computations  The calculation below provides net income on both basic and diluted basis for fiscal year
end

(m millions, except per share amounts} 2015 2014 2013
Numerator
Net income attnibutable to the Company $ 86 3 62 $ 57
Denominator
Weighted average common shares

outstanding - basic 1191 1169 1135

Dulutive shares 43 46 60

Weighted average common and common
equivalent shares outstanding - diluted 123.4 1215 119 5

Per common share income (loss)
Basic
Dhluted

0.72 $ 053 $ 050
070 3 051 3 048

@ o

15. Guarantor and Non-Guarantor Financial Information

Berry Plastics Corporation { Issuer™) has notes outstanding which are fully, jointly, severally, and uncondiionally guaranteed
by substantially all of Berry s domestic subsidiaries Separate narrative information or financial statements of the guarantor
subsidiaries have not been included because they are 100% owned by the parent company and the guarantor subsidianes
unconditionally guarantee such debt on a joint and several basis A guarantee of a guarantor of the secunties will termunate
upon the following customary circumstances  the sale of the capital stock of such guarantor if such sale comphes with the
mdenture, the designation of such guarantor as an unrestricted subsidiary, the defeasance or discharge of the indenture, as a
result of the holders of certain other indebtedness foreclosing on a pledge of the shares of a guarantor subsidhary or if such
guarantor no longer guarantees certain other indebtedness of the 1ssuer The guarantees are also limited as necessary to
prevent them from constituting a fraudulent conveyance under applicable law and guarantees guaranteeing subordhnated debt
are subordinated to certain other of the Company’s debts Presented below 1s condensed consohdating financial information
for the parent, 1ssuer, guarantor subsidiartes and non-guarantor subsidianies Our issuer and guarantor financial information
ncludes all of our domestic operating subsidiaries, our non-guarantor subsidanes include our foreign subsidianes, and BP
Parailel, LLC BP Parallel, LLC 1s the entity that we established to buyback debt secunties of Berry Plastics Group, Inc and
Berry Plastics Corporation  Berry Plastics Group, Inc uses the equity method to account for its ownership 1n Berry Plastics
Corporation in the Condensed Consolidating Supplemental Financial Statements Berry Plastics Corporation uses the equity
method to account for 1ts ownership in the guarantor and non-guarantor subsidianes  All consohidating entries are included 1n
the eliminations column along with the elimination of intercompany balances

Condensed Supplemental Consolidated Statements of Operations

Fiscal 2015
Non-
Guarantor Guarantor

Parent Issuer Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Total
Net sales - 622 5 3807 b 452 b - $ 4881
Cost of goods sold - 526 3,128 358 - 4,012
Selling, general and administrative - 64 244 49 - 357
Amortization of intangibles - 3 75 8 - a1
Restructunng and tmparrment charges - - 13 - - 13
Operaung ncome - 24 k¥ k¥l - 408
Debt extimguishment - 94 - - - 94
Other expense {income), net 3 - 3 1 - 1
Interest expense, net - 25 148 18 - 191
Equity 1n net income of subsidiares (119) (210) - - 329 -
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Income (loss) before income taxes 122 115 196 8 329 122
Incomte ax expense {benefit) 36 25 - 4 (29) 36
Consolidated net incormne (kss) 86 90 196 14 {300) 86
Net income(loss) attributable o non-controlling interests - - - - - -
Net income(loss) atnibutabie to the Comparny 5 86 90 $ 196 § 14 $ (300} ) 86
Currency translation - - - (45) - (45)
Interest rate hedges - a3 - - - 33
Defined benefit pension and retiree benefit plans - (16) - - - (16)
Provision for income taxes related to other
comprehensive income 1tems - 18 - - - 18
Comprehensive income (loss) 3 86 59 s 196 3 30 3 (300) M 10
Fiscal 2014
Non-
Guarantor Guaranter

Parent [ssuer Subswdiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Total
Net sales 3 - 638 $ 3904 b3 416 $ - § 4958
Cost of goods sold - 557 3.284 349 - 4,190
Selling, general and admuinistrative - 52 232 36 - 320
Amortization of intangibles - 10 84 8 - 102
Restructuning and impairiment charges - - 30 - - 30
Operating mcome - 19 274 23 - 316
Debt extinguishment - 35 - - - 35
Other income, net 3) - 4 - - (7
Interest expense, net 34 27 176 o7 g1 221
Equity in net income of subsidaries {98) (218) - - 316 -
Income {loss) before income taxes 67 175 102 120 (397) 67
Income tax expense (benefit) 4 44 - 5 {49) 4
Consolidated net income (loss) 63 13 102 115 (348) 63
Net income(loss) attributable to non-controlling interests 1 - - - - 1
Net income({loss) aitributable to the Company $ 62 131 $ 102 3 115 § (348 s 62
Currency translation - - - {16) - (16)
Interest rate hedges - (3) - - - {3}
Defined benefit pension and retiree benefit plans - (1D - - - an
Provision for income taxes related to other
comprehensive ncome items - 5 - - - 5
Comprehensive income (loss) g 62 122 g 102 § 99 $ (348) $ 37

Fiscal 2013
Non-
Guarantor Guarantor

Parent Issuer Subsudiaries Subsidiaries Elmminations Total
Net sales $ - 571 $ 3,706 $ 370 $ - 5 4,647
Cost of sales - 506 3,021 308 - 3,835
Selling, general and adnunistrative expenses - 58 314 40 - 412
Resructuning and impawment charges, net - 1 13 - - 14
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Operanng income (loss)
Other mcome
Interest expense, net

Equity 1n net mcome of subsidiaries

Net income (loss} before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)

Net income {loss)

Currency translation

Interest rate hedges

Defined benefit penision and retiree benefit plans

Provision for mcome taxes related to other
comprehensive income items

Comprehensive income {loss)

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts recevable, net

Intercompany receivable

Inventories
Deferred income taxes
Prepatd expenses and other current
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Intangible assets, net
[nvestment 1n subsidianies
Other assets
Total assets
Liablles and equity
Current habilines
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other current labilities
Intercompany payable
Current portion of long-term debt
Total current liabihties
Long-term debt, less current portion
Deferred income taxes
Onher long-term habilines

- 6 358 22 . 386
- 56 1 - - 57
47 24 201 (120} 52 244
(132} 297 - - 429 -
35 223 156 142 (521) 85
28 80 - 2 (82) 28
3 57 $ 143 $ 156 $ 140 $ (439) $ 57
- - - 5)] - (5)
- 20 - - - 20
- kY - - . 34
- (20) - b - {20}
3 57 177 3 156 ) 135 3 (439) $ 86
Condensed Supplemental Consclidated Balance Sheet
As of fiscal year end 2015
Non-
Guarantor Guarantor
Parent Issuer Subsidiartes Subsidiares Elimunatuons Total
- 163 s - 3 65 $ - 228
- 23 337 74 - 434
329 2,963 - 83 3,375 -
- 49 415 48 - 522
162 - - - - 162
- 22 5 10 - 37
491 3,220 767 280 (3.375) 1,383
- 79 1,111 104 - 1,294
- 97 151 1 - 2,349
75 1,456 - - (1,531) -
- - 1 1 - 2
566 4,852 $ 4,030 $ 486 $  (4.906) 5,028
- 28 $ 245 $ 57 $ - 330
57 140 121 20 - 338
- - 3375 - (3,375) -
- a7 - - - 37
57 205 3,741 77 (3.375) 705
- 3.647 - 1 - 3648
387 - - - - 387
175 122 39 - 341
562 3,769 39 - 4,376

Total long-term Labilities
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Total hahhities

Redeemable non-controlling interests
Other equity (deficit)

Total equaty (deficit)

Total labilities and equity {deficit)

Assets

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts recervable, net of allowance
Intercompany receivable

Inventones

Deferred income taxes

Prepaid expenses and other current
Total current assets

Property, plant and equipment, net
Intangible assets, net

Investment 1 subsidiaries

Other assets

Total assets

Liabilriies and equuty

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable

Accrued and other current hablittes
Intercompany payable

Long-term debt-current portion
Total current liabilities

Long-term debt, less current portion
Deferred tax habiities

Other long-term habilities

Total long-term habilittes

Total Lahlitres

Redeemable non-controlling interests
Other equuty {deficat)

Total equity (deficit)

Total habihties and equity (deficit)

619 3,974 3,780 83 (3.375) 5,081
12 - - - - 12
(65) 878 250 403 (1,531) (65)
(65) 878 250 403 (1,531) (63)
5 566 4,852 5 4,030 3 486 3 (4,906) S 5028
Condensed Supplemental Consolidated Balance Sheet
As of fiscal year end 2014
hon-
Guarantor Guarantor
Parent Issuer Subsidiares Subsidianes Eluminations Total
M - 70 $ 15 3 44 $ - $ 129
- 35 377 79 - 491
319 3,343 - 87 (3,749) .
- 51 496 57 - 604
166 - - - - 166
- 15 13 14 - 42
485 3,514 901 281 (3,749) 1432
- 84 1,162 1§ - 1,364
- 104 2,225 125 - 2455
69 1,237 - - (1,306} -
- - 1 - - 1
$ 554 4,939 $ 4290 $ 5324 $ (5055 $ 5252
3 - 31 3 303 $ i 3 - b} 395
35 127 132 20 - 314
- - 3,749 - (3,749 -
- 54 - 4 - 58
35 212 4,184 85 (3,749) 767
- 3,842 - 2 - 3844
386 - - - - 386
234 76 42 4 - 356
620 3918 42 [ - 4,586
653 4130 4,226 91 (3.749) 5,353
13 - - - 13
(114) 809 64 433 (1,306) {114)
(114) 309 64 433 (1,306) (114)
$ 554 4,939 $ 429 $ 524 $ (5,055 $ 5252
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Condensed Supplemental Consohidated Statements of Cash Flows

Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Cash Flow from Investing Activities
Addinons to property, plant, and equipment
Proceeds from sale of assets

Investment n Parent

{Contributtons} dismbutions to/from subsidianes
Intercompany advances (repaymenis)
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired
Net cash from investing activities

Cash Flow from Financing Activities
Proceeds from long-term borrowings
Payment of tax recevable agreement
Proceed from 1ssuance of common stock
Repayment of note recevable

Repayment of long-term borrowings
Changes m mtercompany balances
Contnbution from Parent

Debt financing costs

Net cash from financing activities

Effect of currency translation on cash

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of pertod
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Cash Flow from Investing Activities
Additions to property, plant, and equipment
Proceeds from sale of assets

[nvestment 10 Parent

{Contrthutions) distributions to/from subsidianes
Intercompany advances (repayments)
Investment i Issuer debt securities
Acquisiton of business, net of cash acquired
Net cash from investing activities

Cash Flow from Financing Activities
Proceeds from long-term borrowings
Proceeds from imtial public offenng
Payment of tax receivable agreement
Proceed from 1ssuance of comrmon stock
Repayment of note receivabie

Repayment of long-term borrowings
Changes in intercompany balances
Contrtbution from Parent

Debt financing costs

Net cash from financing activities
Effect of currency ranslavon on cash

Fiscal 2015
Non-
Guarantor Guarantor
Parent Issuer Subsidianes Subsidaries Elmuinations Total
- S 60 - 542 3 4 3 1 $ 637
- (13) (164) 6)] - (180)
- - 18 - - 18
(18) 18 - - - -
- 368 - - (368) -

- - (3 - - 3)
(18) 373 {149) 3 (368) {165
- 693 - - - 693
39 - - - - 39
18 - - - - 18

- (947 - “@ - 951)
39 - (408) 2 367 -
- 86) - - - 86)
18 (340) (408) (2) 367 (365)
- - - 8) - 8)
- 93 (15} 21 - 99
- 70 15 44 - 129
- S 163 $ - S 65 $ - $ 228
Fiscal 2014
MNon-
Guarantor Guarantor
Parent Issuer Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Ehmuinations Total
- 3 27 $ 473 3 30 1 - $ 530
- %) (200) 9 - 213
- - 19 - - 19
723 (2) - 721 (1,442) -
- 20 - - {20) -
- - {136) [0 - (226)
723 12 (317) 622 (1,462) 422)
- 1,627 - - - 1,627
32 - - - - (32)
17 - - - B 17
(740) (1,668) - - el (1,687)
32 - (141} 89 20 -
- - - 720 721 -
- ) - - - (@)
(723} (85) (141) (632) | 462 (119}
- - - €3 - (2)




Net change in cash and cash equivalents

- (46) 15 13 - {13}
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of penod - 116 - 26 - 142
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 3 3 70 3 15 3 44 $ - § 126
Fiscal 2013
Non-
Guarantor Guarantor
Parent Issuer Subsidiares Subsidiaries Elmunations Total
Cash Flow from Operating Activities b - s 1 S 417 3 36 3 - 5§ 464
Cash Flow from Investing Activities
Addinons 1o property, plant, and equipment - (7 (218) (14) - 239)
Proceeds from disposal of assets - | 17 - - 18
Investment 1n Parent - - - (21) 21 -
(Contributions) distnbutions to/from subsidianies (452) 441 - - 21 .
Intercompany advances (repayments} - 210 - - (210) -
Investment in Issuer debt securities - - - - -
Acquisition of business net of cash acquired - - (24) - - (24)
Net cash from investing activities (462) 645 (225) (35) (163) (245)
Cash Flow from Financing Activities
Proceeds from long-term debt - 1,391 - - 1,391
IPO proceeds 438 - - - 438
Payment of TRA (5 %) - 5 (5)
Proceed from 1ssuance of commeon stock 27 - - - - 27
Repayment of note receivable 2 2 - B ) 2
Repayment of long-term debt - (1.955) - 2) 2an (1,978)
Changes in intercompany balances - - £192) (15) 207 -
Contnbution from Parent - - - 21 21) -
Deferred financing costs - {39) - - - (39
Net cash from financing activities 462 {606} {192) 4 168 (164}
Net change in cash and cash equivalents - 50 - 5 - 53
Cash and cash equivalents at beginming of penod - 66 - 21 - 87
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ - $ 116 3 - 3 26 3 - $ 142
16. Quarterly Finanaal Data (Unaudited)
The following table contans selected unaudited quarterly financial data for fiscal years ended
2015 2014
First Second Third Fourth First Second Thard Fourth
Net sales $ 1,220 $ 1,224 0§ 1,241 0§ 1,196 § 1,140 $ 1,210 $ 1,298 $ 1,310
Cost of sales 1,037 997 1,003 975 964 1,023 1,089 1,114
Gross profit 183 227 238 221 176 187 209 196
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss)
attnbutable to the Company
per share
Basic 0.11 0.32 (0.11) 0.40 005 010 013 025
Diluted 0.11 0831 (0.11) 0.39 005 010 012 024

60




17 Subsequent Events

AVINTIV Inc

In October 2015, the Company acquired 100% of the capital stock of AVINTIV Inc { “Avintv °) for a purchase price of $2 3
billion which 1s prelimunary, unaudited and subject to adjustment  Avintiv is one of the world s leading developers,
producers, and marketers of nonwoven specialty materials used 1n hygiene, infection prevention, personal care, and high-
performance solutions  With 23 locations in 14 countnies, an employee base of over 4,500 people, and the broadest range of
process technologies in the industry, Avintiv’s strategically located manufactuning facihities position 1t as a global supplier to
many of the same leading consumer and industnal product manufacturers that the Company supphes and utthize simlar key
raw materials as the Company’s existing business  The acquired business will primanily be operated in Berry's newly
announced Health, Hygiene and Specialties reporting segment  To finance the purchase, the Company 1ssued $400 milhon
aggregate principal amount of 6 0% second prionty senior secured notes due 2022 and entered into an incremental
assumphion agreement to increase the commitments under the Company’s existing term loan credit agreement by $2 | billton
due 2022

The acquisitton has been accounted for under the purchase method of accounting, and accordingly, the purchase price will be
allocated to the idenuifiable assets and hiabilities based on preliminary fair values at the acquisition date  The Company 15 1n
the process of detemmuining the allocation of the purchase price to the fair value con fixed assets, intangibles, deferred income
taxes and reviewing all of the working capital acquired The preliminary unaudited allocation of purchase price and estimated
fair values of acquired assets and assumed habtlhities consisted of working capital of $181 mullion, property and equipment of
$969 million, intangible assets of $586 mullion, goodwill of $802 rllion, other assets of $46 million, a net deferred tax
hability of $114 milhon, and other long-term habihties of $207 million

Unaudited pro forma net sales were $6,739 rllion and $6,666 million and unaudited pro forma net losses were $40 million
and $47 muillion for fiscal 2015 and fiscal 2014, respectively The unaudited pro forma net sales and net loss assume that the
Awvintiv acquisinion had occurred as of the beginming of the respecuve periods The results of the Providéncia and Dounor
acquisitions have been included in Avintiv's operations since June 11, 2014 and Apnl 17, 2015, respectively However, no
pro forma adjustments have been made with respect to their operations prior to the date of acquisition by Avintiv as these
acquisitions were not considered significant to Berry under Regulation $-X

The unaudited pro forma information presented above 1s for informational purposes only and 1s not necessanly indicative of
the operating results that would have occurred had the Avintiv acquisiion been consummated at the beginmung of the
respective penod, nor 1s 1t necessarily indicative of future operating results  Further, the information reflects only pro forma
adjustments for additional interest expense, depreciation, and amortization, net of the applicable income tax effects

Business Reorgamzation

In November 2015 the Company reorgamzed nto three operating segments Health, Hygiene and Specialties, Consumer
Packaging, and Engineered Matenals  The Health, Hygiene and Specialties segment will include the recently acquired
Avintiv busimess and personal care films and international business that historically reported in our Flexible Packaging
segment, The Consumer Packaging segment will constst of our historical Rigid Open Top segment, Rigid Closed Top
segment, the food and consumer films business that histoncally reported i our Flexible Packaging segment, and the custom
shrink films business that was historically reported 1n our Engineered Matenals segment  The Engineered Matenal segment
will nclude the old Engineered Matenal segment, excluding the custom shrink films business, and the converter films
business that was historically reported in our Flexible Packaging segment Beginming wath our results for the first quarter of
fiscal 2016, we will report results based on our new operating segment structure
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securines Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authonzed, on the 23rd day of November, 2015

BERRY PLASTICS GROUP, INC

By__/s/ Jonathan D Rich
Jonathan D Rich
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Secunities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on
behalf of the registrant and 1n the capacities and on the dates indicated

Signature Title Date
Chairman of the Board of Directors, Chief Executrve Officer and
/s/ Jonathan D Rich Dhrector (Principal Executive Qfficer) November 23, 2015
Jonathan D Rich
/s Mark W Miles Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) November 23, 2015
Mark W Miles
Executive Vice President and Controller {Principal Accounting
/s/ James M Till Officer) November 23, 2015
James M Till
/s/ B Evan Bayh Durector November 23, 2015
B Evan Bayh
/s/ Jonathan F Foster Director November 23, 2015
Jonathan F Foster
/s/ Stephen E Sterrett Dhrector Navember 23, 2015
Stephen E Sterrett
/s/ Idalene F Kesner Director November 23, 2015
Idalene F Kesner
/s/ Carl } Rickertsen Director November 23, 2015
Carl J Rickertsen
/s/ Ronald S Rolfe Director November 23, 2015
Ronald S Rolfe
/s/ Robert V' Seminara Director November 23, 2015
Robert V Semunara
/s/ Robert A Steele Drrector November 23, 2015
Robert A Stecle
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Exhibit No

21

31

32

41

42

43

44

435

10 1

10 2

03 *

{Description of Exhibit]

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July 30, 2015, by and among AVINTIV Inc, Berry Plastics Group,
Inc, Berry Plastics Acquisition Corporation IX and Blackstone Capital Partners (Cayman) V L P, as the secunty
holder representative {the Exhibits and Disclosure Schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of
Regulation S-K and will be provided to the SEC upon request) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2 1 to the
Company’s Form 8-K filed on August 5 2015)

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Berry Plastics Group, Inc (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3 1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on March 10, 2015}

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Berry Plastics Group, Inc (incorporated herein by reference to Exhubit 3 1 to
the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 29, 2014)

Indenture, dated as of May 12, 2014, by and among Berry Plastics Corporation, the guarantors party thereto and
U S Bank National Association, as Trustee, relating to the 5 50% second prionty senior secured notes due 2022
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhubit 4 2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 13,
2014}

Indenture, dated as of June 5, 2015, by and among Berry Plastics Corporation, the guarantors party thereto and
U S Bank National Association, as Trustee, relating to the 5 125% second prionty semor secured notes due 2023
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on June 5,2015)

Indenture, dated as of October 1, 2013, by and between Berry Plastics Escrow Corporation, as Issuer, and U S
Bank National Association, as Trustee, relating to the 6 (0% second prionty senior secured notes due 2022
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on October 6, 2015}

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 1, 2015, by and between Berry Plastics Corporation, Berry
Plastics Group, Inc , the subsidianes of Berry Plastics Corporation party thereto, Berry Plastics Escrow
Corporation, and U § Bank National Association, as Trustee, relating to the Indenture, by and between Berry
Plastics Escrow Corporatton, as [ssuer, and U § Bank, National Association, as Trustee, relating to the 6 00%
second priority senuor secured notes due 2022, dated October 1, 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhubit 4 1 to
the Company’s Form 8-K filed on October 6, 2013)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of October 1, 2015, by and between Berry Plastics Corporation, Berry
Plastics Group, Inc , each subsidiary of Berry Plastics Corporation wdentified therein, and Goldman, Sachs & Co,
and Credit Suisse, on behalf of themselves and as representatives of the imitial purchasers, relating to the 6 00%
second prionty senior secured notes due 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 1 to the Company’s Form 8-
K filed on October 6, 2015)

$650,000,000 Second Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of May 14, 2015, by and
among Berry Plastics Corporation , Berry Plastics Group, Inc, certain domestic subsidianies party thereto from
time to tume, Bank of Amenca, N A, as collateral agent and administrative agent, the lenders party thereto from
time to tume, and the financial institutions party thereto, which 1s attached to Amendment No 4 to Amended and
Restated Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of Apni 3, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 1 to the
Company s Form 8-K filed on May 14, 2015)

US $1,200,000,000 Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of April 3, 2007, by and among
Berry Plastics Corporation formerly known as Berry Plastics Holding Corporation, Berry Plastics Group, Inc,
Credit Swisse, Cayman [slands Branch, as collateral and administrative agent, the lenders party thereto from time
to time, and the other financial institutions party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhubit 10 1(b) to
Berry Plastics Corporation’s {File No 033-75706-01) Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 10, 2007)

Second Amended and Restated Intercreditor Agreement, dated as of February 5, 2008, by and among Berry
Plastics Group, Inc , Berry Plastics Corporatton, certain subsichanes identified as parties thereto, Bank of Amenca,
N A and Credtt Suisse, Cayman Islands Branch as first lien agents, and U 8 Bank National Association, as
successor in interest to Wells Fargo Bank, N A, as trustee
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US $1,400,000,000 [ncremental Assumption Agreement, dated as of February 8, 2013, by and among Berry
Plastics Group, Inc , Berry Plastics Corporation and certain of 1ts subsidianes referenced therein and Credit Suisse
AG, Cayman Islands Branch (incorporated herein by reference to Exhubit 10 29 to the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (Reg No 333-187740) filed on April 4, 2013)

US $1,125,000,000 [ncremental Assumption Agreement, dated as of January 6, 2014, by and among Berry
Plastics Group, Inc , Berry Plastics Corporation and certain of its subsidianes referenced therein and Credit Swisse
AG, Cayman Islands Branch as an imcremental term lender, and Credit Swisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch as
admurustrative agents for the lenders under the credit agreement referenced therein (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10 2 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on January 31, 2014)

US $2,100,000,000 Incremental Assumption Agreement and Amendment, dated as of October 1, 2015, by and
among Berry Plastics Group, Inc, Berry Plastics Corporation and certain of 1ts subsidianes referenced therein and
Credit Swisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch as an incremental term lender, and Credit Swisse AG, Cayman Islands
Branch as admunistrative agents for the lenders under the credit agreement referenced therein

Equipment Lease Agreement, dated as of June 24, 2010, between Gossamer Holdings, LLC, as Lessor, and
Chicopee, In¢, as Lessee (incorporated by reference to Exhubit 10 1 to AVINTIV Specialty Matenals Inc s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 17, 2010)

Amendment and Waiver to Equipment Lease Agreement, dated as of January 19, 2011, between Chicopee, Inc, as
Lessee and Gossamer Holdings, LLL.C, as Lessor (incorporated by reference to Exhubit 10 16 to AVINTIV
Specialty Matenals Inc s Repistration Statement Form S-4 (Reg No 333-177497) filed on October 25, 2011)

Second Amendment to Equipment Lease Agreement, dated as of October 7, 2011, between Chicopee, Inc , as
Lessee and Gossamer Holdings, LLC, as Lessor {incorporated by reference to Exhibat 10 17 to AVINTIV
Specialty Materals Inc *s Registration Statement Form 54 (Reg No 333-177497) filed on October 25, 2011)

Third Amendment to Equipment Lease Agreement, dated as of February 28, 2012, between Chicopee, Inc , as
Lessee and Gossamer Holdings, LLC, as Lessor (incorporated by reference to Extubat 10 1 to AVINTIV Specialty
Matenals Inc s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q ftled on May 15, 2012)

Fourth Amendment te Equipment Lease Agreement, dated as of March 22, 2013, between Chicopee, Inc, as
Lessee and Gossamer Holdings, LLC, as Lessor {incorporated by reference to Exhibat 10 1 to AVINTIV Specialty
Matenals Inc °s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed May 9, 2013)

2006 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated heremn by reference to Exhibit 10 8 to Berry Plastics Corporation’s
Regstration Statement Form S-4 (Reg No 333-138380) filed on November 2, 2006)

Amendment No 2 to the Berry Plastics Group, Inc, 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference
to Exhubit 10 9 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed on December 11, 2013)

Amendment No 3 to Berry Plastics Group, Inc 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10 1 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on March 10, 2015)

Omnibus amendment to awards granted under the Berry Plastics Group, Inc, 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10 10 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed on December 11, 2013)

Form of Performance-Based Stock Option Agreement of Berry Plastics Group, Inc (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10 9 1o Berry Plasucs Corporation s Registration Statement Form $-4 (Reg No 333-138330)
filed on November 2, 2006)

Form of Accreting Stock Option Agreement of Berry Plastics Group, Inc (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhubit 10 10 to Berry Plastics Corporation s Registration Statement Form S-4 {(Reg No 333-138380) filed on
November 2, 2006)

Form of Time-Based Stock Option Agreement of Berry Plastics Group, [nc (incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10 11 to Berry Plastics Corporation 5 Registration Statement Form 54 (Reg No 333-138380) filed on
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November 2, 2006)

Form of Performance-Based Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement of Berry Plastics Group, [nc (incorporated
heremn by reference to Exhibit 10 12 to Berry Plastics Corporation’s Registration Statement Form S-4 (Reg No
333-138380) filed on November 2, 2006)

Employment Agreement, dated Apnl 3, 2007, between Berry Plastics Corporation and Thomas E Salmon
{incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10 20 of Berry Plastics Corporation’s (File No 033-75706-01)
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on December 16, 2008)

Employment Agreement, dated October 1, 2010, between the Berry Plastics Corporation and Jonathan Rich
(incorporated heremn by reference to Exhibit 10 2 of Berry Plastics Corporation's {File No 033-75706-01) Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on October 6, 2010}

Form of common stock certificate of Berry Plastics Group, Inc (incorporated by reference to Exhubit 4 27 of
Amendment No 5 to the Company s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No 333-180294) filed on
September 19, 2012)

Income Tax Receivable Agreement, dated as of November 29, 2012, by and among Berry Plastics Group, Inc and
Apollo Management Fund VI, L P (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibut 10 25 to the Company’s Form 10-
K filed on December 27, 2012}

Berry Plastics Group, Inc Executive Bonus Plan {incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10 26 to the
Company’s Form 10-K filed on Decermnber 27, 2012)

Berry Plastics Group, Inc 2012 Long-Term [ncentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 1027 to
the Company’s Form 10-K filed on December 27, 2012)

Amendment No 1 to the Berry Plastics Group, Inc 2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan {incorporated herein by
reference to Extubit 10 31 to the Company s Form 10-K filed on December 11, 2013)

Ommibus amendment to awards granted under the Berry Plastics Group, Inc, 2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10 32 to the Company’s Form 10-K filed on December 11, 2013)

Amendment No 2 to the Berry Plastics Group, Inc 2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Extubit 10 2 to the Company’s Form 8-K filed on March 10, 2015)

2015 Berry Plastics Group, Inc Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhubit 10 3 to the
Company’s Form 8-K filed on March 10, 2015)

Fourth Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement, by and among Berry Plastics Group, Inc, and the
stockholders of the Corporation listed on schedule A thereto, dated as of January 15, 2015 (incorporated heremn by
reference to Exhubut 10 1 to the Company s Form 10-(} filed on January 30, 2015)

Employment Agreement, dated January 1, 2002, between the Berry Plastics Corporation and Curtis Begle
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibtt 10 1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on January 31, 2014)

Amendment No 1 to Employment Agreement, dated as of Septernber 13, 2006, by and between the Berry Plastics
Corporation and Curtis Begle {incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10 3 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed
on January 31, 2014)

Amendment No 2 to Employment Agreement, dated December 31, 2008, by and between the Berry Plastics
Corporation and Curtis Begle (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10 4 1o the Company’s Form 10-Q filed
on January 31, 2014)

Amendment No 3 to Employment Agreement, dated August I, 2010, by and between the Berry Plastics
Corporation and Curtis L Begle (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10 5 to the Company’s Form 10-Q
filed on January 31, 2014)
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Amendment No 4 to Employment Agreement, dated December 16, 2011, by and between the Berry Plastics
Corporation and Curtis L Begle (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibat 10 6 to the Company’s Form 10-Q
filed on January 31, 2014)

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

Subsidianes of the Registrant

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14{a) Certificatron of the Chief Executive Officer

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of the Chief Financial Officer

Section 1350 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer

Section 1350 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer

Interactive Data Files

Filed herewith
Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
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